

# UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO CEARÁ CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS DEPARTAMENTO DE CIÊNCIAS DO SOLO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIA DO SOLO

## CARLA DANIELLE VASCONCELOS DO NASCIMENTO

# HYDROGELS FOR APPLICATION IN SOILS UNDER ABIOTIC STRESSES OF DRYLANDS

FORTALEZA 2020

#### CARLA DANIELLE VASCONCELOS DO NASCIMENTO

# HYDROGELS FOR APPLICATION IN SOILS UNDER ABIOTIC STRESSES OF DRYLANDS

Thesis presented to the Graduate Program in Soil Science of the Federal University of Ceará, as a partial requirement to obtain Doctor's degree in Soil Science. Area of concentration: Management and conservation of soil and water.

Advisor: Professor Mirian Cristina Gomes Costa.

FORTALEZA 2020

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação Universidade Federal do Ceará Biblioteca Universitária Gerada automaticamente pelo módulo Catalog, mediante os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a)

N194h Nascimento, Carla Danielle Vasconcelos do.

Hydrogels for application in soils under abiotic stresses of Drylands / Carla Danielle Vasconcelos do Nascimento. – 2020.

101 f. : il.

Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Federal do Ceará, Centro de Ciências Agrárias, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência do Solo, Fortaleza, 2020. Orientação: Prof. Dr. Mirian Cristina Gomes Costa.

1. Superabsorbent polymers. 2. Water management. 3. Hydrogel in agriculture. I. Título.

CDD 631.4

#### CARLA DANIELLE VASCONCELOS DO NASCIMENTO

# HYDROGELS FOR APPLICATION IN SOILS UNDER ABIOTIC STRESSES OF DRYLANDS

Thesis presented to the Graduate Program in Soil Science of the Federal University of Ceará, as a partial requirement to obtain Doctor's degree in Soil Science. Area of concentration: Management and conservation of soil and water.

Approved in: 25/08/2020.

COMMITTEE

Professor Mirian Cristina Gomes Costa (Advisor) Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC)

Professor Jaedson Cláudio Anunciato Mota Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC)

Professor Judith Pessoa de Andrade Feitosa Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC)

Associate-Professor Robert Simmons Cranfield University

Professor Helon Hébano de Freitas Sousa Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC)

To the Supreme Creator of the universe. To my parents Augusto and Zenilda. To my brother Ícaro and my husband Alan.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Federal University of Ceará, especially to professors of the Agronomy undergraduate course for all contribution in my professional formation.

Many thanks to Cranfield University for receiving me for a sandwich period during the graduate course.

My sincere thanks to professors and technicians of both Soil Sciences (DCS/UFC) and Environment and Agrifood Department (Cranfield University).

I would like to thank the financing by CAPES for the studies related to the sandwich period in England (Pro-Integração call nº 55/2013 process 88882.455010/2019-01) and for the social demand scholarship during the graduate course in Brazil.

Thank you very much to my advisor Mirian Cristina Gomes Costa and to Robert Simmons who guided me during the sandwich period in England.

Many thanks to Professor Judith and colleagues at the Polymer laboratory/UFC, to Professor Jaedson and colleagues at the Soil Physics laboratory/UFC, to Professor Tadeu for his valuable contributions for statistical analysis, to Professor Helon for participation and suggestions in the thesis as a committee member.

Last but not the least I would like to thank my classmates and friends of DCS/UFC.

#### ABSTRACT

The use of superabsorbent hydrogels for application in soils has been studied once they can retain water to improve soil water availability for plant growth. However, the loss of water absorption/retention capacity of hydrogels raises doubts about their long-term efficacy, since there are evidences that abiotic factors affect their efficiency, degradation, and residual levels of acrylamide. Three laboratory studies were carried out to evaluate hydrogels under temperature and salinity stresses. In the first study, the effects of salinity on hydrogel efficiency and potential degradation were evaluated through an experiment in split plot design with four evaluation times (30, 60, 90 and 120 days), five salinity levels (0.003, 0.5; 1.5; 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), and four repetitions. The swelling, composition, and residual acrylamide concentration of a commercial hydrogel were evaluated. In the second study, the effect of temperatures on the physical attributes of soil amended with commercial hydrogel was evaluated through an experiment in split plot scheme with four temperatures (30; 45; 65 and 105 °C), four exposure times (40, 70, 100, and 130 days), and four repetitions. Moisture at field capacity and permanent wilting point, available water, soil density and porosity were evaluated. The third study was a factorial experimental design in a (3x4x2) scheme. The treatments were three hydrogels (A, B, and C), four temperatures (20, 30, 40, and 65 °C), and two salinities (0.003 and 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) with four replications. The swelling degree and the residual acrylamide concentration of the hydrogels were measured. Data were analyzed with univariate (for all studies) and multivariate statistics (for the third study). The first study revealed that there is a reduction in the hydrogel capacity for water absorption over time and with increasing salinity levels. Despite abiotic factors compromising water absorption by the hydrogel, in the second study beneficial effects on soil water storage capacity (up to three times increase), density (reduction of up to 15%), and porosity (up to 15% increase) were observed. Temperature tolerance of the hydrogels evaluated in the third study should be improved so they can be used in regions with high temperatures and salinity levels. Residual acrylamide levels of hydrogels decreased up to 95% over 30 days and are safe for application to soils. In general, anionic superabsorbent copolymers have the potential to contribute to soil management under abiotic stresses typical of drylands.

**Keywords**: Superabsorbent polymers. Water management. Hydrogel in agriculture. Hydrogel for reforestation.

#### RESUMO

O uso de hidrogéis superabsorventes para aplicação em solos tem sido estudado uma vez que podem reter água, melhorando sua disponibilidade no solo para o crescimento das plantas. No entanto, a perda da capacidade de absorção/retenção de água dos hidrogéis levanta dúvidas sobre sua eficácia a longo prazo, uma vez que há evidências que fatores abióticos afetam sua eficiência, degradação e níveis residuais de acrilamida. Três estudos de laboratório foram realizados para avaliar hidrogéis sob estresse térmico e salino. No primeiro estudo, os efeitos da salinidade na eficiência e degradação do hidrogel foram avaliados através de um experimento em parcelas subdivididas, com quatro tempos de avaliação (30, 60, 90 e 120 dias), cinco níveis de salinidade (0,003, 0,5; 1,5; 3,0 e 6,0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) e quatro repetições. O intumescimento, a composição e a acrilamida residual de um hidrogel comercial foram avaliados. No segundo estudo, o efeito das temperaturas nos atributos físicos do solo adicionado de hidrogel foi avaliado através de um experimento em parcelas subdivididas com quatro temperaturas (30; 45; 65 e 105 °C), quatro tempos de exposição (40, 70, 100 e 130 dias) e quatro repetições. Foram avaliadas a umidade na capacidade de campo e ponto de murcha permanente, água disponível, densidade e porosidade do solo. O terceiro estudo apresentou esquema (3x4x2)fatorial. Os tratamentos foram três hidrogéis (A, B e C), quatro temperaturas (20, 30, 40 e 65 °C) e duas salinidades  $(0,003 \text{ e } 3,0 \text{ dS m}^{-1})$  com quatro repetições. O grau de intumescimento e a acrilamida residual dos hidrogéis foram medidos. Os dados foram analisados com estatística univariada (para todos os estudos) e multivariada (para o terceiro estudo). O primeiro estudo indicou que há redução na capacidade de absorção de água do hidrogel com o aumento do tempo e salinidade. Apesar dos fatores abióticos comprometerem a absorção de água pelo hidrogel, no segundo estudo foram observados efeitos benéficos na capacidade de armazenamento de água no solo (aumento de até três vezes), densidade (redução de até 15%) e porosidade (aumento de até 15%). A tolerância à temperatura dos hidrogéis avaliados no terceiro estudo deve ser aprimorada para que possam ser utilizados em regiões com altas temperaturas e níveis de salinidade. Os níveis residuais de acrilamida dos hidrogéis diminuíram até 95% em 30 dias, sendo seguros para aplicação em solos. Em geral, copolímeros aniônicos superabsorventes têm o potencial de contribuir no manejo do solo sob estresses abióticos típicos de regiões secas.

**Palavras-chave:** Polímeros superabsorventes. Manejo da água. Hidrogel na agricultura. Hidrogel para reflorestamento.

### CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	10
2	LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1	Land degradation in Drylands	12
2.2	Importance of soil cover to rehabilitation of degraded soils	14
2.3	Abiotic factors affecting soil cover in arid and semi-arid regions	14
2.3.1	Soil temperature	15
2.3.2	Soil and water salinity	16
2.4	Superabsorbent polymers or hydrogels as soil conditioners	17
2.4.1	Hydrogel effects on soil physical-hydric parameters	18
2.4.2	Effects of salinity and temperature on efficiency and degradation of	
	hydrogel in the soil	20
2.4.3	Acrylamide from hydrogels	22
3	DURABILITY INDICATIVES OF HYDROGEL FOR AGRICULTURAL	
	AND FORESTRY USE IN SALINE CONDITIONS	32
4	TIME OF EXPOSURE TO TEMPERATURES AS A LIMITATION ON	
	AGRICULTURAL USE OF HYDROGEL	55
5	POTENTIAL OF SUPERABSORBENT HYDROGELS TO BE USED IN	
	AGRICULTURE UNDER ABIOTIC STRESSES	76
6	FINAL CONSIDERATIONS	94
	REFERENCES	95
	ANNEX A – ANOVA SUMMARY	102
	ANNEX B – FINAL SWELLING AND DIMENSIONLESS SWELLING	
	FACTOR	103

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

Drylands play an important role in global ecosystems, housing more than two billion people. The climate in these regions is characterized by seasonal rains, recurrent drought years, and a high rate of evapotranspiration. Soils in these areas are often characterized as poorly weathered and shallow resulting in a low water storage capacity and high vulnerability to erosion. High temperatures and salinity are also aspects observed in drylands.

Semi-arid regions fall under the classification of Drylands. Agriculture in these regions has been suffering from water scarcity and decreased crop yields, being the forest sector also affected by water limitations. To feed a growing global population and increase water use efficiency, it is essential to carefully use natural resources, including the soil, in these regions. Global expansions of Drylands will increase the population affected by water scarcity and land degradation. This has led to a growing interest in the development of practical and accessible solutions.

Considering the severe water limitation in arid and semi-arid regions for irrigation, the use of soil conditioners is an alternative that can improve water availability for plant establishment and survival. Between these conditioners are the hydrogels that started to be studied since they allow to minimize the problems associated with water scarcity. However, there are doubts about their long-term effectiveness because there is evidence that their efficiency and degradation are affected by high temperatures, excess of salts in the medium in which they are used (abiotic factors typical of semiarid regions), and time since application.

Previous studies have indicate that increased temperature compromises the functionality of agricultural hydrogels since the absorption/retention of water is reduced with temperature rises. The valence of charges and the concentration of salts in the swelling solution of the hydrogels reduce water absorption, as electrical conductivity of the solution increases. In addition, the degradation of hydrogels can be accelerated by the high concentration of salts in the irrigation water. Further, the efficiency of hydrogels has been reported to decrease a few months after application.

Thus, there is a need to study existing and develop new hydrogels, which are more tolerant of adverse abiotic factors that occur in arid and semi-arid regions. Also, the level of acrylamide monomer ( $C_3H_5NO$ ), remaining in the synthesis process, is an important issue due to its toxicity. Anionic PAM is most commonly used as a soil conditioner because it has low mobility and is associated with residual acrylamide monomer levels of <0.05%.

Given the need for knowledge on the use of hydrogels for the development of crops of interest and for revegetation of degraded areas in edaphoclimatic conditions of arid and semi-arid regions, the following hypotheses were raised: i) despite the interaction between salinity and time affecting the efficiency and degradation of commercial hydrogels, reducing their long-term durability, it is possible to obtain benefits from their use in dry regions; ii) even in the face of thermal stress and prolonged exposure times, commercial hydrogel provide beneficial effects on water storage capacity, soil density, and porosity; iii) given the interaction between salinity and temperature, and the characteristics of a hydrogel that provides improvements in the soils of dry regions can be identified; iv) the intrinsically low residual acrylamide content of hydrogels does not increase under the abiotic stresses of high temperatures and/or salinity and therefore does not represent an environmental risk.

The general objective of the study was to evaluate the efficiency, potential degradation, and residual acrylamide concentration of superabsorbent polymers (hydrogels) using abiotic factors (temperature and salinity), with the aim to promote their use as conditioners for agriculture and for revegetation of arid and semi-arid regions.

#### **2 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Land degradation in Drylands

In the global context, agriculture is predominantly dependent on rainfall. Uncertainties in the frequency and pattern of rainfall in arid and semi-arid areas result in crop losses every year. However, to feed a global population in constant growth, it is necessary to use the lands of these regions, in addition to using natural resources judiciously (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018).

Drylands, which include arid and semi-arid ecosystems, cover 41% of the earth's surface, play an important role in the global ecosystem, and are home to more than two billion people (HOOVER *et al.*, 2020). The semi-arid regions are those in which the addition of water by precipitation is less than losses due to evaporation and plant transpiration. These regions comprise 1/3 of the planet's continental land mass, are home to 1.0 billion people, and are responsible for 22% of food production (SANTOS *et al.*, 2016). Water scarcity, high intensity and low-frequency precipitation characterize semi-arid regions (SANTOS *et al.*, 2016). High temperatures, poorly weathered soils, and small biomass production are also associated with these regions (ARAÚJO FILHO, 2013).

To characterize the semi-arid areas, the Aridity Index (AI) was defined, which is the ratio between precipitation and evapotranspiration. Semi-arid regions are associated with an AI value ranging from 0.20 to 0.50 and arid regions an value ranging 0.05 to 0.20 (MELO FILHO; SOUZA, 2009). Severe water scarcity is becoming common in many arid and semiarid regions of the world (MOHAMMADINEZHAD; AHMADVAND, 2020), with water management being one of the biggest challenges for these regions (ABOBATTA, 2018).

Global Drylands have expanded over the past sixty years and will continue to expand into the 21st century. At the end of this century, the dry areas of the world are projected to be 10% higher than in 1961-1990 climatology. The greatest predicted expansion of semiarid regions will occur in the northern Mediterranean, southern Africa, and North and South America. Global expansions of arid lands will increase the population affected by water scarcity and land degradation (FENG; FU, 2013).

Soils in arid and semi-arid regions are being rapidly degraded (PROSDOCIMI *et al.*, 2016). Natural factors that cause degradation problems are based mainly on climate, hydrology, topography, geology, and vegetation. On the other hand, anthropic factors are

related, for example, to land use (IBAÑEZ *et al.*, 2014; MUNOZ-ROJAS *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, in arid and semi-arid regions there is a greater potential for salinization due to high evaporation, low precipitation, and soil characteristics (such as its mineralogy) (ACOSTA *et al.*, 2011).

The Brazilian semiarid region is one of the largest and most populous in the world. More than eighteen million people live in this region, with eight million in rural areas (FILHO; SOUZA, 2009). The Brazilian semi-arid region comprises an area of approximately 970,000 km<sup>2</sup> (LAPOLA *et al.*, 2014), and it is estimated that only 54% of the native vegetation known as "Caatinga" is preserved (ALTHOFF *et al.*, 2018; LAPOLA *et al.*, 2014).

The soils in the Brazilian semiarid region are poorly developed, mineral-rich, stony, and shallow. This compromises water infiltration and reduces water retention capacity, the latter being an important limiting factor for plant production in that region. Soil classes of LUVISSOLOS, PLANOSSOLOS, and NEOSSOLOS predominate in this region of Brazil (OLIVEIRA *et al.*, 2009).

The removal of the Caatinga, combined with long periods of drought and the characteristics of the soils favours accentuated degradation of the soils, leaving them uncovered and exposed for a longer time to the action of climatic agents. This reduces their productive potential causing often irreversible damage to the environment (TREVISAN *et al.*, 2002).

Semiarid soils are undergoing an intense process of desertification, as in conventional agriculture, there is a replacement of natural vegetation by crops and/or pasture without the adoption of conservationist practices, which is exemplified by the use of fire in the preparation of agricultural areas. Conventional agricultural systems in the Brazilian semiarid region are associated with reduced soil organic carbon stocks (MEDEIROS *et al.*, 2020). The reduction in organic matter content is a problem associated with soil degradation, with a negative effect mainly on availability of nutrients, the stability of aggregates, and microbial activity (BAYER; MIELNICZUK, 1999). Deforestation and irrigated crops are leading to soil salinization, further increasing the evaporation of the water contained in them and accelerating the desertification process (GARDA, 1996).

The combination of anthropic pressure and aridity led to the extreme degradation of large expanses of Caatinga in the Brazilian semi-arid region, giving rise to so-called 'desertification hotspots'. Thus, means of preserving biodiversity and developing strategies to recover these areas are urgent (SILVA *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, soil degradation implies a reduction or loss of its productive potential. Consequently, it is necessary to find alternatives to maintain/improve agricultural production. The use of soil conditioners, as hydrogels, that can favor the revegetation of degraded areas as well as agricultural production in semi-arid regions is a strategy to be studied aiming at the functioning of ecosystems and agro-ecosystems.

#### 2.2 Importance of soil cover for the rehabilitation of degraded soils

Regardless of the purpose of an environmental rehabilitation program, the actions presuppose the use of soil protection measures, among which is the formation and maintenance of soil cover (LONGO; RIBEIRO; MELO, 2010). Soil cover is considered the most important factor controlling the movement of runoff the soil surface. Vegetation reduces runoff velocity, strengthens and maintains soil structure and soil retention by plant roots (ARAÚJO FILHO, 2013).

The lack of soil cover contributes to the increase of the erodibility and soil density, being preponderant for the beginning of the runoff (ARTEMI CERDÀ; MORERA; BODÍ, 2009). Changes in soil cover, such as transition from forest to non-forest systems, results in increased soil loss due to higher rates of runoff and erosion (RICHEY *et al.*, 2002). The lack of soil cover resulting from the low biomass production of agricultural crops also favors soil degradation.

Revegetation and generation of high biomass added into the soil as crop residues are considered an effective tool for improving soil quality and for rehabilitating degraded environments (WANG *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, revegetation is an effective method to control desertification, especially in arid and semi-arid regions, as an example from China, where revegetation has been consistently implemented since the 1950s (CHEN *et al.*, 2017).

#### 2.3 Abiotic factors affecting soil cover in arid and semi-arid regions

#### 2.3.1 Soil temperature

Temperature is a factor that plays an important role in soil chemical, hydrological and biological processes (BHATTI *et al.*, 2000). It influences the decomposition of organic matter, availability of nutrients, soil thermal dynamics (YI *et al.*, 2009), seedling emergence and mortality (TER HEERDT *et al.*, 2017), plant growth (WANG; SHAO; LIU, 2013), respiration of soil organisms, nitrification and denitrification - which also influences CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (LUO *et al.*, 2012). Soil temperature also has an influence on the physical properties of water (movement and availability) and soil air (GASPARIM *et al.*, 2005). Soil

temperature is a dynamic property since it changes with climatic variability and other processes (AWE; REICHERT; WENDROTH, 2015).

In general, the greatest changes in soil temperature occur after the removal of vegetation which increases solar radiation incidence on the soil surface and decreases plant transpiration and interception of water by the canopy (SCHARENBROCH; BOCKHEIM, 2007).

Vegetation removal is common in semi-arid regions, where extractive agricultural systems and overgrazing for livestock are observed (ARAÚJO FILHO, 2013). Agriculture is developed at the expense of indiscriminate deforestation, burning, and inadequate fallow periods. There is also intense extraction of firewood and wood, contributing to the reduction of vegetation in the Caatinga (ARAÚJO FILHO, 2013). The removal of the Caatinga, combined with long periods of drought, causes marked degradation, leaving the soil exposed for long periods to the actions of water, temperature and wind (SOUTO *et al.*, 2005).

The Brazilian semi-arid region has high air temperature, with an annual average of around 26.0 to 27.5 °C. At the soil surface, in the driest months, the temperature reaches 60 °C (CORREIA *et al.*, 2012). In the semi-arid region of Brazil, a temperature value for a degraded soil of 30.8 °C at a depth of 10 cm has been recorded (SOUTO *et al.*, 2005).

The maximum soil temperature in an agroforestry system in the Brazilian semi-arid region on which *Gliricidia sepium* was intercropped with *Zea mays* L. was 30 °C in the middle of drought season. Outside the area of *Gliricidia sepium* influence the maximum soil temperature was 41 °C (MARIN *et al.*, 2006a), showing the effects of soil cover in reducing soil temperature.

In the semiarid region of China, at soil depths of 5 and 25 cm, temperature values of around 25 °C were observed (WU *et al.*, 2017; XIAO *et al.*, 2016). In the semi-arid region of Chile, at a depth of 0-10 cm, values of 35.3 °C were found in summer and 38.4 °C in spring (REYES *et al.*, 2016).

#### 2.3.2 Soil and water salinity

Salinity is one of the main abiotic stresses that limit plant development and crop productivity worldwide (PIÑERO *et al.*, 2016). In arid and semi-arid regions the excess of salts in the soil limits agricultural production (ANDRÉO-SOUZA *et al.*, 2010). Soil salinization is the main environmental problem in arid and semi-arid regions and seriously restricts regional ecological security and sustainable agricultural development (YANG *et al.*, 2020).

Consequently, soil salinity represents a threat to food security and environmental conservation (SINGH; PANDA, 2012).

Salinity negatively affects plant growth and crop yields. In arid and semi-arid nonagricultural areas, it affects urban structures due to the reduction of groundwater quality, leading to soil erosion and land degradation (ABUELGASIM; AMMAD, 2019).

Soils affected by salts are an important category of degraded soils because they occupy a large global extent and due to the serious effects they have on agricultural productivity (WICKE *et al.*, 2013). Saline soils occupy more than 7% of the planet's terrestrial surface and play an important role in the landscape of the arid and semi-arid regions of the world (SETIA *et al.*, 2011).

This is because arid and semi-arid regions have greater potential for salinization due to high evaporation, low precipitation, and inherent soil characteristics such as its mineralogy (ACOSTA *et al.*, 2011). Poor internal drainage common in soils in these areas, together with excessive evaporation, promotes the accumulation of soluble salts and an increase in exchangeable sodium on the surface and/or sub-surface of the soils (BARROS *et al.*, 2004).

High concentrations of salts in the soil restrict plant growth due to an inhibition of metabolic processes, increased osmotic potential, decreased hydraulic conductivity and nutrient imbalances, resulting in low plant yields (SALL *et al.*, 2015). High soil salinity can also lead to flocculation or dispersion of particles of organic material, which influences the solubility of soil organic matter and the mineralization of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), sulfur (S) and phosphorus (P) (LU *et al.*, 2015; WONG *et al.*, 2010).

Sodicity alters physical properties of the soil, causing a decline in soil structure at a sub-aggregate scale due to increased expansion and dispersion of clays. This leads to an increase in rainfall induced structural crusts and increased crust cohesion on drying, with a concomitant decline in soil permeability, infiltration, and hydraulic conductivity (WONG *et al.*, 2010).

In addition to soil salinity problems, arid and semi-arid regions have salinity problems associated with irrigation water. Water of suitable quality for irrigation is a limited resource in these regions (SINGH; PANDA, 2012), with water stress being one of the main limiting factors that affects crop growth and productivity (NIRMALA; GUVVALI, 2019). In the Northeast of Brazil, the water used for irrigation, in most cases, have salt concentration in the range of 1 to 30 mmole L<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to an electrical conductivity (EC) ranging from 0.1 to 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (GHEYI; QUEIROZ; MEDEIROS, 1997).

In many cases, this saline water is the only source of water for irrigation both for agriculture and for revegetation programs in semi-arid Brazil. The classification of water according to the risk of salinity was established according to the University of California Committee of Consultants (UCCC) with the following limits: low (Class 1: <0.75 dS/m), medium (Class 2: 0.75 - 1.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), high (Class 3: 1.5 - 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) and very high (Class 4:> 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) (FRENKEL, 1984). According to the FAO classification, the level of restrictions for the use of irrigation water is: None (<0.7 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), slight to moderate (0.7 - 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) and severe restriction (> 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) (AYERS; WESTCOT, 1985).

To overcome the difficulties brought about by abiotic factors for agriculture and revegetation of degraded areas in semi-arid Brazil, it is necessary to search for alternatives such as the use of soil conditioners.

#### 2.4 Superabsorbent polymers or hydrogels as soil conditioners

The soil conditioners known as superabsorbent polymers or 'hydrogels' - an employed generic term in many areas, including agriculture (FERREIRA *et al.*, 2014) - absorb many times their weight in water, and have been successfully used in dry areas to improve the capacity of the soil to absorb and retain water (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

Hydrogels are among the most widely used synthetic soil conditioners in agriculture, horticulture, and the forestry sector (PARADELO; BASANTA; BARRAL, 2019). In agriculture they can be used to preserve water in the soil and to release nutrients; however, the main characteristic of hydrogels is their ability to absorb and retain large amounts of water (GUILHERME *et al.*, 2015). Due to their high-water absorption capacity, superabsorbent hydrogels are being extensively studied as soil conditioners to increase water use efficiency in agriculture (CHEN *et al.*, 2017; COELLO *et al.*, 2018; PARADELO; BASANTA; BARRAL, 2019; SONG *et al.*, 2020; THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018; VASCONCELOS *et al.*, 2020; YANG *et al.*, 2018; ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

Hydrogels are cross-linked hydrophilic polymers that have a high water-holding capacity. They are considered superabsorbent when their retention capacity is >100 times their original mass (ESSAWY *et al.*, 2016). Hydrophilic polymers can absorb and conserve large amounts of water, even under a hostile external environment, such as heat or pressure, compared to other traditional absorbents (WANG *et al.*, 2019). The fact that hydrophilic polymers swell, absorbing large volumes of water or aqueous solutions, has led to many

practical applications of these materials (such as in horticulture), particularly in arid regions, to improve soil water retention and water supply to plants (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009).

The term "polyacrylamide" is loosely used to describe any acrylamide polymer present as one of the monomers. More strictly, its nomenclature according to IUPAC (International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry) is poly (prop-2-enamide), which defines it as a water-soluble polymer formed by the polymerization of acrylamide monomers (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Polyacrylamide (PAM) with only acrylamide monomers is non-ionic; other monomers such as acrylate can be copolymerized in various percentages to form anionic PAM (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Currently, most agricultural hydrogels on the market are manufactured from acrylate and polyacrylamide monomers or polymers (SONG *et al.*, 2020).

The ability of hydrogels to absorb water depends on the hydrophilic functional groups linked to the polymer backbone, while their resistance to dissolution is linked to the cross-links between the chains of the polymeric network (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018). The retention and release of water by the polymeric material applied to the soil is a function of soil texture, granulometry, and hydrogel type. As for the type of hydrogel, the water retention capacity is directly related to the elasticity of the polymeric network, the presence of hydrophilic functional groups in the polymeric chain, such as -OH, -COOH, -CONH<sub>2</sub>, -SO<sub>3</sub>H, the degree of crosslinking and the porosity level of the material (DORKOOSH *et al.*, 2000).

Concerning the application of hydrogel as soil conditioners results have already been reported regarding the following aspects: erosion control, control of nutrient loss, stabilization of steep slopes (CHEN *et al.*, 2017), in the structural stability of soils (BUCHMANN; BENTZ; SCHAUMANN, 2015), in mitigating post-fire erosion (INBAR *et al.*, 2015), in soil biochemical properties (EL-SAIED *et al.*, 2016), in-plant morphophysiological indicators and soil physical-hydric attributes (GALEŞ *et al.*, 2016). In order for hydrogels to be considered as an alternative to favor plant development in dry regions they must contribute to a significant improvement in soil physical-hydric attributes.

#### 2.4.1 Hydrogel effects on soil physical-hydric parameters

Hydrogels have been used to improve the physical properties of soils, increasing soil water storage capacity and the efficiency in water use by plants (HOU *et al.*, 2018; THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). When superabsorbent polymers are applied, evaporation and water infiltration on the soil surface can be reduced (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). These polymers are effective in increasing water holding capacity, decreasing the percolation depth, reducing

evaporation losses in sandy soils (EL SHAFEI *et al.*, 1992) and improving the water supply to cultivated plants (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009)

Hydrogels applied to the soil can improve water supply to the plants by increasing soil capacity to store water (WOLTER *et al.*, 2002). A three-fold increase in water availability to the plants was verified by adding 0.2 % w w<sup>-1</sup> of hydrogel to a sandy soil (VARENNES *et al.*, 1997). At least 95% of the water retained in the polymers, in potential matrices greater than -1500 kPa, were available to plants in a study where a PAM hydrogel was added to sandy substrates (FONTENO; BILDERBACK, 1993).

The soil available water content increased 2.2 and 3.2 times in loamy and sandy soil, respectively, with the application of 8 g of hydrogel per kg of soil. The hydrogel dose of 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the soil moisture by 40% in a loam-clay-sandy soil, compared to the treatment without hydrogel, and also increased the total plant water availability by 125% (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008). There was more water available lasting longer for *Agrostis stolonifera* species grown in soil treated with a PAM polymer as a hydrogel, which reduced the irrigation frequency (AGABA *et al.*, 2011).

Hydrogel addition increased the easily available soil water; however, for sandy soil, the water availability increase last longer (about 22 days, which corresponds to the irrigation interval of most crops) than in loam-clay soil on which critical water content was reached more quickly (4 -7 days). These findings suggest that hydrogels have greater potential application in sandy soils (NARJARY *et al.*, 2012).

The water retention capacity of superabsorbent PAM polymers subjected to an extreme water deficit was less than in the absence of deficit. This suggests that the water retention capacity of hydrogels is related to initial soil moisture and that when soil moisture is below a critical limit, the water retention capacity of the hydrogel is greatly reduced (BAI *et al.*, 2010).

In addition to water retention, hydrogels can improve other soil attributes, such as bulk density and porosity. The hydrogel increases soil porosity, improving oxygenation to plant roots (ULLAH *et al.*, 2015). Amounts of potassium polyacrylate hydrogel applied to the soil increased porosity and decreased soil density (HOU *et al.*, 2018). The changes in soil porosity and density were attributed to the fact that the hydrogel tested favored the formation of macropores in the soil, helping in the water infiltration process (HOU *et al.*, 2018). The application of two superabsorbent hydrogels to the soil improved water retention and significantly promoted potato growth and productivity (HOU *et al.*, 2018). With the incorporation of a PAM hydrogel "Aquastock" (with a bulk density of 0.85 g/cm<sup>-3</sup>, it has 10% N and 19% C) to a depth of 20 cm, it was verified that the bulk density decreased from 1420 kg m<sup>-3</sup> to 1150 kg m<sup>-3</sup> in the sand, and from 1200 kg m<sup>-3</sup> to 920 kg m<sup>-3</sup> in the clay soil evaluated. Total porosity and water availability increased, while soil permeability decreased, especially in the sandy soil (BAASIRI *et al.*, 1986).

Although multiple studies demonstrate beneficial effects of hydrogels on soil physical-hydric parameters, there are external factors that can compromise the efficiency of the hydrogels and promote their degradation.

# 2.4.2 Effects of salinity and temperature on efficiency and degradation of PAM hydrogel in the soil

The presence of salts in the swelling solution interferes with the hydrogels' ability to retain water. Thus, when an irrigation water source contains high levels of dissolved salts, or when effluents are used for irrigation or when there are salts applied through fertilizers, hydrogels significantly lose their water holding capacity (WANG; GREGG, 1990).

Water absorption efficiency of hydrophilic polymers is reduced by increases of water electrical conductivity (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). Subtle increases in water-soluble wetting salts reduce the absorption capacity of PAM-based polymers (COELHO *et al.*, 2008). A high-water absorption capacity by the hydrogel was found in deionized water; however, upon saturation in saline solutions containing monovalent cations (NaCl and KCl,), the hydrogel showed a reduction in water absorption capacity of approximately 80%. (VARENNES *et al.*, 1997).

Salinity impairs water absorption since hydrophilic groups of PAM hydrogels bind to salts, blocking water ingress (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Salts also suppress the electrostatic interactions between the hydrogel and water molecules (XIONG *et al.*, 2018; ZHAO *et al.*, 2019). Thus, the efficiency of PAM hydrogels is affected by salinity of both soil and irrigation water, a common condition in arid and semi-arid regions.

The reduction in swelling of hydrogels in saline conditions is attributed to a "charge-screening effect" of additional cations, causing non-perfect anionic electrostatic repulsion (KWON; BAE; SUNG WAN KIM, 1991; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011). This term refers to the protection of carboxylate anions by additional cations, which prevents effective anion-anion repulsion. Therefore, the decrease in osmotic pressure results in a decrease in the concentration of mobile

ions between the hydrogel and the aqueous phases, decreasing the water absorption by the PAM hydrogels.

The characteristics of the external solution, such as the charge valency of the ions present and their concentration (e.g. Na<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>), influence the expansion of hydrogels (RAJU; RAJU; MOHAN, 2003). In the case of saline solutions with multivalent cations, ionic crosslinking on the surface of the polymer particles decreases the swelling capacity (FLORY, 1953; HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014). The decrease in swelling depends on the type and concentration of salts present in the solution (HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014).

Divalent elements, such as Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>, can decrease the swelling of hydrogels. This is due to their ability to bind ions with the carboxamide or carboxylate groups of hydrogels forming inter and intramolecular complexes (SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011). Monovalent cations, such as Na<sup>+</sup>, can shield the carboxylate anions of the hydrogel polymeric structure, contributing to reducing the three-dimensional structure due to the lower repulsion between the fixed charges of the hydrogel polymeric network, leading to a decrease in the osmotic pressure difference between the hydrogel framework and the external solution. This in consequence leads to a decrease in water retention capacity (MAGALHÃES *et al.*, 2013; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

For greater absorption of saline solution by hydrogels, it is recommended to introduce hydrophilic groups that are more prone to ionization, such as sulfonic and phosphate groups in which the degree of association with mobile ions present in saline solution would be lower than that observed in the carboxylic acid group (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

The efficiency of PAM hydrogel (at a rate 1 g per 1 and 0.75 m deep) has been reported to be decreasing over time, with a marked reduction in water retention capacity 18 months after polymer application to the soil (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005). However, significant reduction of water retention of a PAM hydrogel (0.3-0.6% w/w) capacity was observed after 5 months in a substrate with *Salvia officinalis* (SAVI *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, hydrogels can be degraded in the soil. Some authors claim that degradation of PAM hydrogels occurs slowly in the soil as a result of chemical, photochemical and mechanical processes and due to the large size of the molecule that is broken into progressively smaller units over time by abiotic processes (ENTRY; SOJKA; HICKS, 2008).

Considering the characteristics of arid and semi-arid regions, it is also necessary to understand how high temperatures affect the hydrogel applied to the soil. Studies indicate that the increase in temperature compromises the functionality of agricultural hydrogels, highlighting a reduction of up to 60% of the water retention capacity in the soil that received hydrogel at temperatures up to 35 °C (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). The absorption of water by a hydrogel from poly(aspartic acid) decreased with increasing temperature from 30 to 60 °C (ZHAO *et al.*, 2005).

Hydrogels can absorb and lose water in a reversible way, being related to intrinsic factors of the external environment, such as temperature, which in turn can contribute to the collapse or phase change (AHMED, 2015). At a critical temperature, the elasticity of the polymeric network is reduced to zero and the gel becomes infinitely compressible (MOLLOY; SMITH; COWLING, 2000). At a constant temperature of 37 °C, it has been reported that a PAM hydrogel can change its physical properties (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996a).

In arid and semi-arid regions of the world, soil temperature values can range from 25 to 60 °C (CORREIA *et al.*, 2012; GAO *et al.*, 2007; REYES *et al.*, 2016; WU *et al.*, 2017; XIAO *et al.*, 2016). Inappropriate management practices (eg deforestation) are commonly adopted in semi-arid regions, leaving the soil exposed to the effects of temperature, as solar radiation starts to directly affect the soil (SOUTO *et al.*, 2005; SCHARENBROCH, BOCHEIM, 2007). Thus, it is important to know to what extent the temperature negatively affects the functionality of hydrogels for agricultural use.

#### 2.4.3 Acrylamide from hydrogels

Hydrogels synthesized from acrylamide have greater potential for water use due to their high-water absorption capacity. However, potential environmental pollution must be considered, because, in the last decades, acrylamide has gained an important place, especially in food science and technology, as well as in environmental science, due to its carcinogenic effect on human health (TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017; XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

Although polyacrylamide is considered a non-toxic and inert substance, its monomeric form, acrylamide, has been studied because of its neurotoxic, genotoxic and carcinogenic impacts on human health (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Acrylamide-based hydrogels may contain residual acrylamide monomer as a result of incomplete polymerization (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). The content of acrylamide monomer in commercial hydrogels has been an important issue, particularly for applications in which human contact is involved (CAULFIELD *et al.*, 2003). The useful life of PAM hydrogels and the potential for degradation and release of toxic by-products remain, in part, unknown (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005).

Acrylamide (CH<sub>2</sub> = CH – CONH<sub>2</sub>), also known as 2-propenamide, is a solid monomer, which has a white color with crystalline and odorless characteristics. Its chemical structure has a polar group and a vinyl function, which allows the polymerization of acrylamide (MATOSO *et al.*, 2019). Anionic PAM is most commonly used as a soil conditioner because it has low mobility and is associated with residual acrylamide monomer levels of <0.05% (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Typically, acrylamide monomer levels in agricultural polymers are around 200-500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (0.02-0.05%) based on dry weight (CASTLE, 1993).

The World Health Organization (WHO) has set the concentration of acrylamide in drinking water at 0.5  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>. The European Union (EU) has established a minimum quality requirement of 0.1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> in water for human consumption (MARIN *et al.*, 2006b). The maximum levels of residual acrylamide found in water are 5 to 480 times lower than those found in frequently consumed foods (TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017). The acrylamide monomer can be adsorbed through dermal exposure and inhalation and is lethal (LD50) at 150-200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of body weight (MATOSO *et al.*, 2019).

As acrylamide does not bind to the soil, it is highly soluble and mobile in water, and moves quickly with infiltration, causing an even greater risk of contamination of the surface or groundwater (TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017). On the other hand, acrylamide is susceptible to biodegradation in soil and surface water, which reduces the risk of accumulation in the environment (NEELY; BRANSON; BLAU, 1974; TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017). Acrylamide is biodegraded in days (LANDE; BOSCH; HOWARD, 1979), is rapidly decomposed into propionamide and propanoic acid. Propanoic acid is a fatty acid metabolized by plants, while propionamide is degraded to CO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, and H<sub>2</sub>O (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005).

Some authors claim that PAM is stable at room temperature, stable under fluorescent lights, and does not release detectable acrylamide in an aqueous solution at 95 °C (CAULFIELD *et al.*, 2003). Under artificial environmental conditions, it was found that PAM did not degrade to acrylamide, but residual acrylamide degraded to ammonium and these ammonium concentrations increased as residual acrylamide levels decreased (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996b). Based on the chemical structure of acrylamide, ammonium is a possible product of the acrylamide degradation process and may contribute to plant development, as ammonium is one of the ways in which plants absorb N which is an essential element of their development (MOREAU *et al.*, 2019; SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996b).

The release of acrylamide into the soil solution from hydrogel applications is a concern for its environmental contamination. There is currently, a paucity of information on the degradation of residual acrylamide under semi-arid conditions.

#### REFERENCES

ABEDI KOUPAI, J.; SOHRAB, F.; SWARBRICK, G. Evaluation of Hydrogel Application on Soil Water Retention Characteristics. **Journal of Plant Nutrition**, *[sl.]*, v. 31, p. 37–41, 2008.

ABOBATTA, W. Impact of hydrogel polymer in agricultural sector. Advances in Agriculture and Environmental Science, [sl.], v. 1, n. 2, p. 59–64, 2018.

ABUELGASIM, A.; AMMAD, R. Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment Mapping soil salinity in arid and semi-arid regions using Landsat 8 OLI satellite data. **Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 13, p. 415–425, 2019.

ACOSTA, J. A. *et al.* Assessment of salinity status in intensively cultivated soils under semiarid climate, Murcia, SE Spain. Journal of Arid Environments, [sl.], v. 75, n. 11, p. 1056–1066, 2011.

AGABA, H. *et al.* Hydrogel amendment to sandy soil reduces irrigation frequency and improves the biomass of *Agrostis stolonifera*. Agricultural Sciences, [*sl.*], v. 2, n. 4, p. 544–550, 2011.

AHMED, E. M. Hydrogel: Preparation, characterization, and applications: A review. Journal of Advanced Research, [*sl.*], v. 6, n. 2, p. 105–121, 2015.

ALTHOFF, T. D. *et al.* Adaptation of the century model to simulate C and N dynamics of Caatinga dry forest before and after deforestation. **Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 254, p. 26–34, 2018.

ANDRÉO-SOUZA, Y. *et al.* Efeito da salinidade na germinação de sementes e no crescimento inicial de mudas de pinhão-manso. **Revista Brasileira de Sementes**, Pelotas, v. 32, n. 2, p. 83–92, 2010.

ANDRY, H. *et al.* Water retention , hydraulic conductivity of hydrophilic polymers in sandy soil as affected by temperature and water quality. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 373, n. 1–2, p. 177–183, 2009.

ARAÚJO FILHO, J. A. Manejo Pastoril Sustentável da Caatinga. Recife: Projeto Dom Elder Câmara, 2013.

ARTEMI CERDÀ; MORERA, A. G.; BODÍ, M. B. Soil and water losses from new citrus orchards growing on sloped soils in the western. **Earth surface processes and landforms**, *[sl.]*, v. 34, p. 1822–1830, 2009.

AWE, G. O.; REICHERT, J. M.; WENDROTH, O. O. Temporal variability and covariance structures of soil temperature in a sugarcane field under different management practices in southern Brazil. **Soil and Tillage Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 150, p. 93–106, 2015.

AYERS, R. S.; WESTCOT, D. W. **Water quality for agriculture**. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1985.

BAASIRI, M. *et al.* Soil application of a hydrophilic conditioner in relation to moisture, irrigation frequency and crop growth. **Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis**, *[sl.]*, v. 17, n. 6, p. 573–589, 1986.

BAI, W. *et al.* Effects of super-absorbent polymers on the physical and chemical properties of soil following different wetting and drying cycles. **Soil Use and Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 26, p. 253–260, 2010.

BARROS, M. DE F. C. *et al.* Recuperação de solos afetados por sais pela aplicação de gesso de jazida e calcário no Nordeste do Brasil. **Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental**, Campina Grande, v. 8, n. 1, p. 59–64, 2004.

BAYER, C.; MIELNICZUK, J. Fundamentos da matéria orgânica do solo: ecossistemas tropicais e subtropicais. In: **Dinâmica e função da matéria orgânica**. Porto Alegre: Gênesis, 1999. p. 9–26.

BHATTI, J. S. *et al.* Simulations of pre-and post- harvest soil temperature, soil moisture, and snowpack for jack pine: Comparison with field observations. **Forest Ecology and Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 138, p. 413–426, 2000.

BUCHMANN, C.; BENTZ, J.; SCHAUMANN, G. E. Intrinsic and model polymer hydrogelinduced soil structural stability of a silty sand soil as affected by soil moisture dynamics. **Soil and Tillage Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 154, p. 22–33, 2015.

CASTLE, L. Determination of acrylamide monomer in mushrooms grown on polyacrylamide gel. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, [*sl.*], v. 41, n. 8, p. 1261–1263, 1993.

CAULFIELD, M. J. *et al.* Degradation on polyacrylamides. Part II. Polyacrylamid gels. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 44, p. 3817–3826, 2003.

CHEN, Y. LE *et al.* Co-variation of fine-root distribution with vegetation and soil properties along a revegetation chronosequence in a desert area in northwestern China. **Catena**, Cremlingen, v. 151, p. 16–25, 2017.

COELHO, J. B. M. *et al.* Efeito do polímero hidratassolo sobre propriedades físico-hídricas de três solos. **Revista Brasileira de Ciências Agrárias**, Recife, v. 3, n. 3, p. 253–259, 2008.

COELLO, J. *et al.* Innovative soil conditioners and mulches for forest restoration in semiarid conditions in northeast Spain. **Ecological Engineering**, *[sl.]*, v. 118, n. March, p. 52–65, 2018.

CORREIA, R. C. *et al.* A região semiárida brasileira. In: VOLTOLINI, T. **Produção de Caprinos e Ovinos no Semiárido**. Petrolina: Embrapa Semiárido, 2011. p. 21–28. Available in: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/54762/1/01-A-regiao-semiaridabrasileira.pdf-18-12-2011.pdf. Acess in: 23 jun. 2019.

DAY, M. *et al.* Relationships between tree species diversity and above-ground biomass in Central African rainforests: implications for REDD. **Environmental Conservation**, *[sl.]*, v. 41, n. 1, p. 64–72, 2013.

DE OLIVEIRA, L. B. *et al.* Morfologia e classificação de Luvissolos e planossolos desenvolvidos de rochas metamórficas no Semiárido do nordeste Brasileiro. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 33, n. 5, p. 1333–1345, 2009.

DORKOOSH, F. A. *et al.* Preparation and NMR characterization of superporous hydrogels (SPH) and SPH composites. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 41, n. 23, p. 8213–8220, 2000.

EL-SAIED, H. *et al.* Bio-chemical properties of sandy calcareous soil treated with rice strawbased hydrogels. Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences, Riyadh, v. 15, n. 2, p. 188–194, 2016. EL SHAFEI, Y. Z. *et al.* Influence Of Upper Layer Treatment Of Gel-Forming Conditioner On Water Movement In Sandy Soils Under Sprinkler Infiltration. **Arid Soil Research and Rehabilitation**, *[sl.]*, v. 6, n. 3, p. 217–231, 1992.

ENTRY, J. A.; SOJKA, R. E.; HICKS, B. J. Carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios can estimate anionic polyacrylamide degradation in soil. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 145, n. 1–2, p. 8–16, 2008.

ESSAWY, H. A. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogels via graft polymerization of acrylic acid from chitosan-cellulose hybrid and their potential in controlled release of soil nutrients. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 89, p. 144–151, 2016.

FENG, S.; FU, Q. Expansion of global drylands under a warming climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, Göttingen, v. 13, n. 19, p. 10081–10094, 2013.

FERREIRA, E. A. *et al.* Eficiência do hidrogel e respostas fisiológicas de mudas de cultivares apirênicas de citros sob défice hídrico. **Pesquisa Agropecuária Tropical**, Goiânia, v. 44, n. 2, p. 158–165, 2014.

FLORY, P. J. Principles of polymer chemistry. Cornell University Press, 1953.

FONTENO, W. C.; BILDERBACK, T. E. Impact of Hydrogel on Physical Properties of Coarse-structured Horticultural Substrates. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, [sl.], v. 118, n. 2, p. 217–222, 1993.

FRENKEL, H. Reassessment of water quality criteria for irrigation. In: Ecological studies: analysis and synthesis, 1984.

GALEŞ, D. C. *et al.* Effects of a hydrogel on the cambic chernozem soil's hydrophysic indicators and plant morphophysiological parameters. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 267, p. 102–111, 2016.

GAO, Z. *et al.* Determination of soil temperature in an arid region. Journal of Arid Environments, [*sl.*], v. 71, p. 157–168, 2007.

GARDA, E. Atlas do meio ambiente do Brasil. Brasília: Terra Viva, 1996.

GASPARIM, E. *et al.* Temperatura no perfil do solo utilizando duas densidades de cobertura e solo nu. Acta Scientiarum. Agronomy, Maringá, v. 27, n. 1, p. 107–115, 2005.

GHEYI, H.; QUEIROZ, J.; MEDEIROS, J. DE. Manejo e controle da salinidade na agricultura irrigada. Campina Grande: UFPB, 1997.

GŁOWIŃSKA, A.; TROCHIMCZUK, A. W.; JAKUBIAK-MARCINKOWSKA, A. Novel acrylate/organophosphorus-based hydrogels for agricultural applications. New outlook and innovative concept for the use of 2- (methacryloyloxy) ethyl phosphate as a multi-purpose monomer. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 110, p. 202–210, 2019.

GUILHERME, M. R. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogels based on polysaccharides for application in agriculture as soil conditioner and nutrient carrier: A review. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 72, p. 365–385, 2015.

HEIDARI, S. *et al.* Synthesis of an efficient copolymer of acrylamide and acrylic acid and determination of its swelling behavior. Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 4, p. 1331–1340, 2018.

HOLLIMAN, P. J. et al. Model and field studies of the degradation of cross-linked

polyacrylamide gels used during the revegetation of slate waste. Science of the Total Environment, *[sl.]*, v. 336, n. 1–3, p. 13–24, 2005.

HOOVER, D. L. *et al.* Traversing the wasteland: a framework for assessing ecological threats to drylands. **BioScience**, Washington, v. 70, n. 1, p. 35–47, 2020.

HOU, X. *et al.* Superabsorbent polymers influence soil physical properties and increase potato tuber yield in a dry-farming region. **Journal of Soils and Sediments**, *[sl.]*, v. 18, p. 816–826, 2018.

IBAÑEZ, J. *et al.* A multidisciplinary model for assessing degradation in Mediterranean rangelands. Land Degradation and Development, [*sl.*], v. 25, n. 5, p. 468–482, 2014.

INBAR, A. *et al.* Using polyacrylamide to mitigate post-fire soil erosion. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 239, p. 107–114, 2015.

KWON, I. C.; BAE, Y. H.; SUNG WAN KIM. Electrically Erodible polymer gel for controlled release of drugs. **Nature**, Basingstoke, v. 354, p. 291–293, 1991.

LANDE, S. S.; BOSCH, S. J.; HOWARD, P. H. Degradation and leaching of acrylamide in soil. Journal of Environmental Quality, [sl.], v. 8, p. 133–137, 1979.

LAPOLA, D. M. *et al.* **Pervasive transition of the Brazilian land-use systemNature Climate Change**, London, v. 4, n. 1, p. 27–35, 2014.

LONGO, R. M.; RIBEIRO, A. Í.; MELO, W. J. DE. Recuperação de solos degradados na exploração mineral de cassiterita : biomassa microbiana e atividade da desidrogenase. **Bragantia**, Campinas, v. 70, n. 1, p. 132–138, 2010.

LU, Q. *et al.* Effects of Water Level and Salinity on Total Sulfur Contents in Salt Marsh Soils of the Yellow River Delta, China. **Wetlands**, Wilmington, v. 36, p. 137–143, 2015.

LUO, G. J. *et al.* Decadal variability of soil CO2, NO, N2O, and CH4 fluxes at the Höglwald Forest, Germany. **Biogeosciences**, Göttingen, v. 9, n. 5, p. 1741–1763, 2012.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel composite with minerals aimed at water sustainability. **Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society**, São Paulo, v. 24, n. 2, p. 304–313, 2013.

MARIN, A. M. P. *et al.* Efeito da Gliricidia sepium sobre nutrientes do solo, microclima e produtividade do milho em sistema agroflorestal no agreste Paraibano. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 30, n. 3, p. 555–564, 2006a.

MARIN, J. M. *et al.* Study of different atmospheric-pressure interfaces for LC-MS/MS determination of acrylamide in water at sub-ppb levels. **Journal of Mass Spectrometry**, *[sl.]*, v. 41, p. 1041–1048, 2006b.

MATOSO, V. *et al.* Acrylamide : A review about its toxic effects in the light of 'Developmental Origin of Health and Disease (DOHaD) concept. **Food Chemistry**, *[sl.]*, v. 283, p. 422–430, 2019.

MEDEIROS, A. DE S. *et al.* Soil carbon losses in conventional farming systems due to landuse change in the Brazilian semi-arid region. **Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 287, p. 106690, 2020.

MELO FILHO, J.F.; SOUZA, L. V. O manejo e a conservação do solo no Semi-árido baiano: desafios para a sustentabilidade. **Revista Bahia Agrícola**, *[sl.]*, v. 7, n. 3, p. 1–7, 2009.

MIRDARIKVANDE, S. *et al.* Effect of pH, and Salinity onto Swelling Properties of Hydrogels Based on H-alginate-g-poly (AMPS). **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 205–209, 2014.

MOHAMMADINEZHAD, S.; AHMADVAND, M. Modeling the internal processes of farmers' water conflicts in arid and semi-arid regions: Extending the theory of planned behavior. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 580, p. 124241, 2020.

MOLLOY, P. J.; SMITH, M. J.; COWLING, M. J. The effects of salinity and temperature on the behaviour of polyacrylamide gels. **Materials and Design**, *[sl.]*, v. 21, n. 3, p. 169–174, 2000.

MOREAU, D. *et al.* A plant perspective on nitrogen cycling in the rhizosphere. Functional Ecology, [*sl.*], v. 33, p. 540–552, 2019.

MUNOZ-ROJAS, M. *et al.* Impact of land use and land cover changes on organic carbon stocks in mediterranean soils (1956 – 2007). Land Degradation and Development, [sl.], v. 26, p. 168–179, 2015.

NARJARY, B. *et al.* Water availability in different soils in relation to hydrogel application. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 187–188, p. 94–101, 2012.

NEELY, W. B.; BRANSON, D. R.; BLAU, G. E. Partition coefficient to measure bioconcentration potential of organic chemicals in fish. **Environmental Science and Technology**, New York, v. 8, n. 13, p. 1113–1115, 1974.

NIRMALA, A.; GUVVALI, T. Hydrogel/superabsorbent polymer for water and nutrient management in horticultural crops - review. **International Journal of Chemical Studies**, *[sl.]*, v. 7, n. 5, p. 787–795, 2019.

PARADELO, R.; BASANTA, R.; BARRAL, M. T. Water-holding capacity and plant growth in compost-based substrates modified with polyacrylamide, guar gum or bentonite. **Scientia Horticulturae**, *[sl.]*, v. 243, p. 344–349, 2019.

PIÑERO, M. C. *et al.* Changes in the salinity tolerance of sweet pepper plants as affected by nitrogen form and high CO2 concentration. **Journal of Plant Physiology**, *[sl.]*, v. 200, p. 18–27, 2016.

PROSDOCIMI, M. *et al.* The immediate effectiveness of barley straw mulch in reducing soil erodibility and surface runoff generation in Mediterranean vineyards. Science of the Total Environment, [*sl.*], v. 547, p. 323–330, 2016.

RAJU, K. M.; RAJU, M. P.; MOHAN, Y. M. Synthesis of superabsorbent copolymers as water manageable materials. **Polymer international**, *[sl.]*, v. 772, p. 768–772, 2003.

REYES, R. *et al.* Effect of substrate depth and roof layers on green roof temperature and water requirements in a semi-arid climate. **Ecological Engineering**, *[sl.]*, v. 97, p. 624–632, 2016.

RICHEY, J. E. *et al.* Outgassing from Amazonian rivers and wetlands as a large tropical source of atmospheric CO2. **Nature**, Basingstoke, v. 416, p. 617–620, 11 abr. 2002.

SADEGHI, M.; GHASEMI, N.; YARAHMADI, M. Drug release rtudy from superabsorbent hydrogel based on poly 2-acrylamido-2-methylpropanesulfonic acid grafted collagen. **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 2, p. 425–434, 2011.

SALL, S. N. et al. Microbial response to salinity stress in a tropical sandy soil amended with

native shrub residues or inorganic fertilizer. **Journal of Environmental Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 161, p. 30–37, 2015.

SANTOS, J. C. N. *et al.* Effect of dry spells and soil cracking on runoff generation in a semiarid micro watershed under land use change. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 541, p. 1057–1066, 2016.

SAVI, T. *et al.* Green roofs for a drier world: Effects of hydrogel amendment on substrate and plant water status. **Science of the Total Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 490, p. 467–476, 2014.

SCHARENBROCH, B. C.; BOCKHEIM, J. G. Impacts of forest gaps on soil properties and processes in old growth northern hardwood-hemlock forests. **Plant and Soil**, Dordrecht, v. 294, n. 1–2, p. 219–233, 2007.

SETIA, R. *et al.* Salinity effects on carbon mineralization in soils of varying texture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, *[sl.]*, v. 43, p. 1908–1916, 2011.

SILVA, S. I. *et al.* Seed oils of Euphorbiaceae from the Caatinga, a Brazilian tropical dry forest. **Biomass and Bioenergy**, *[sl.]*, v. 69, p. 124–134, 2014.

SINGH, A.; PANDA, S. N. Integrated salt and water balance modeling for the management of waterlogging and walinization. I: validation of SAHYSMOD. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering, [sl.], v. 138, n. 11, p. 955–963, 2012.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental degradation of polyacrylamides. I. Effects of artificial environmental conditions: Temperature, light, and pH. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 35, p. 121–135, 1996a.

SMITH, E. A; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental degradation of polyacrylamides. 1. Effects of artificial environmental conditions: temperature, light, and pH. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 35, n. 2, p. 121–135, 1996b.

SONG, B. *et al.* Hydrogel synthesis based on lignin/sodium alginate and application in agriculture. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 144, p. 219–230, 2020.

SOUTO, P. C. *et al.* Decomposição de estercos dispostos em diferentes profundidades em area degradada no semi-árido da paraíba. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 29, n. 1, p. 125–130, 2005.

TEPE, Y.; ÇEBI, A. Acrylamide in environmental Water: a review on sources, exposure, and public health risks. **Exposure and Health**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 3–12, 2017.

TER HEERDT, G. N. J. *et al.* Effects of temperature, moisture and soil type on seedling emergence and mortality of riparian plant species. **Aquatic Botany**, *[sl.]*, v. 136, p. 82–94, 2017.

THOMBARE, N. *et al.* Design and development of guar gum based novel, superabsorbent and moisture retaining hydrogels for agricultural applications. **Carbohydrate Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 185, p. 169–178, 2018.

TREVISAN, R. *et al.* Atividade microbiana em argissolo vermelho-amarelo distrófico típico coberto com aveia preta (Avena sp.) no outono, em um pomar de pessegueiro. **Científica Rural**, *[sl.]*, v. 7, n. 2, p. 83–89, 2002.

ULLAH, F. *et al.* Classification , processing and application of hydrogels: A review. **Materials Science and Engineering C**, *[sl.]*, v. 57, p. 414–433, 2015.

VARENNES, A. *et al.* Effects of two Na polyacrylate polymers on the hydrophysical and chemical properties of a sandy soil, and on plant growth and water economy. **Revista de Ciências Agrárias**, Lisbon, v. 20, n. 4, 1997.

VASCONCELOS, M. C. *et al.* Superabsorbent Hydrogel Composite Based on Starch/Rice Husk Ash as a Soil Conditioner in Melon (Cucumis melo L.) Seedling Culture. **Journal of Polymers and the Environment**, Dordrecht, v. 28, p. 131–140, 2020.

WANG, B. *et al.* Changes in soil nutrient and enzyme activities under different vegetations in the Loess Plateau area, Northwest China. **Catena**, Cremlingen, v. 92, p. 186–195, 2012.

WANG, S. *et al.* A remarkable thermosensitive hydrogel cross-linked by two inorganic nanoparticles with opposite charges. **Journal of Colloid and Interface Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 538, p. 530–540, 2019.

WANG, Y.; GREGG, L. L. Hydrophilic Polymers — their response to soil amendments and effect on properties of a soilless potting mix. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, [sl.], v. 115, n. 6, p. 943–948, 1990.

WANG, Y.; SHAO, M.; LIU, Z. Vertical distribution and influencing factors of soil water content within 21-m profile on the Chinese Loess Plateau. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 193–194, p. 300–310, 2013.

WICKE, B. *et al.* Biomass production in agroforestry and forestry systems on salt-affected soils in South Asia: Exploration of the GHG balance and economic performance of three case studies. **Journal of Environmental Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 127, p. 324–334, 2013.

WOLTER, M. *et al.* Biological degradability of syntetic superabsorbent soil conditioners. Landbauforschung Volkenrode, [*sl.*], v. 52, n. 1, p. 43–52, 2002.

WONG, V. N. L. *et al.* Soil carbon dynamics in saline and sodic soils: A review. Soil Use and Management, [*sl.*], v. 26, n. 1, p. 2–11, 2010.

WU, Y. *et al.* Response of soil water, temperature, and maize (Zea may L.) production to different plastic film mulching patterns in semi-arid areas of northwest China. **Soil and Tillage Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 166, p. 113–121, 2017.

XIAO, B. *et al.* Moss-dominated biological soil crusts significantly influence soil moisture and temperature regimes in semiarid ecosystems. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 263, p. 35–46, 2016.

XIONG, B. *et al.* Polyacrylamide degradation and its implications in environmental systems. **npj Clean Water**, London, v. 1, n. 17, p. 1–9, 2018.

YANG, J. *et al.* Soil salinization in the oasis areas of downstream inland rivers —Case Study: Minqin oasis. **Quaternary International**, *[sl.]*, 2020.

YANG, W. *et al.* Foliar antitranspirant and soil superabsorbent hydrogel affect photosynthetic gas exchange and water use efficiency of maize grown under low rainfall conditions. **Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture**, *[sl.]*, v. 99, p. 350–359, 2018.

YI, S. *et al.* Interactions between soil thermal and hydrological dynamics in the response of Alaska ecosystems to fire disturbance. **Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences**, *[sl.]*, v. 114, n. 2, p. 1–20, 2009.

ZAIN, G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel based on sulfonated-starch for improving water and saline absorbency. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 115, p.

61–68, 2018.

## **3 DURABILITY INDICATIVES OF HYDROGEL FOR AGRICULTURAL AND FORESTRY USE IN SALINE CONDITIONS**

#### ABSTRACT

Hydrogels are hydrophilic polymers that absorb >100 times their mass of water, presenting the potential enhancing water use efficiency for agricultural and forestry use, especially in semiarid regions. High durability is an informed feature in commercial products, but little is known about how time and salinity affect hydrogel efficacy. In this laboratory study, the hypothesis tested was that the interaction between time and salinity reduces water absorption potential of a commercial hydrogel, promoting chemical degradation and residual acrylamide monomer. The experimental design was completely randomized split plot with four replications. The treatments were four time periods (30, 60, 90 and 120 days) and five levels of salinity (distilled water = 0.003, 0.5; 1.5; 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). Swelling, hydrogel composition, and residual acrylamide monomer concentration were evaluated. The hydrogel showed less swelling (8.1 g g<sup>-1</sup>) in a saline solution of 4.20 dS m<sup>-1</sup> after 120 days. The C/N ratio of the polymer increased up to 47% in the EC 4.4 dS m<sup>-1</sup> at 120 days and there was a shift in the wavelength of the methylene, amide and acrylate bands. Residual acrylamide monomer was up to 0.5 mg  $g^{-1}$  only in the hydrogel before the experiment; however, the values were within the acceptable range. After 120 days up to 85% of the residual acrylamide monomer was degraded. For the hydrogel evaluated in this study, under laboratory conditions and without mixing with soil, there is an interaction between time and salinity, reducing water absorption and promoting the chemical degradation of the polymer and the residual acrylamide monomer. This suggest that under semiarid conditions hydrogel durability may be impaired for forestry and permanent crops applications.

**Keywords:** Soil conditioner. Acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer. Irrigation water salinity.

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

Semi-arid regions comprise 1/3 of the planet's continental masses, are home to a billion people and are responsible for 22% of food production (ARAÚJO FILHO, 2013). Research the facilitates agricultural and forestry production in semiarid regions are important since dry areas of the world have expanded in recent years and will continue to expand (FENG; FU, 2013).

In addition to the water deficit, salinity in the soil solution and irrigation water limits plant development in semiarid regions (PIÑERO *et al.*, 2016). Dry regions are susceptible to salinization due to high evaporation, low precipitation and inherent soil characteristics (ACOSTA *et al.*, 2011). The water used for irrigation becomes more concentrated in salts because in the dry season there is a reduction in the volume of water in reservoirs. In the Brazilian semiarid region, the waters used for irrigation is saline with an electrical conductivity (EC) of 0.1 to 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (GHEYI; QUEIROZ; MEDEIROS, 1997). According to the FAO classification, the level of restrictions for the use of irrigation water is: None (<0.7 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), slight to moderate (0.7 - 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) and severe restriction (> 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) (AYERS; WESTCOT, 1985).

As agriculture and forestry are affected by water deficit and salinity, it is necessary to develop solutions for the sustainable management of water resources in semiarid regions. Among the alternatives for supplying water to plants are hydrogels, which are materials that often absorb >100x their weight in water and have been used in dry regions to improve soil water storage and the efficiency of water use by plants (HOU *et al.*, 2018; THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018; ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

Questions about the viability of using hydrogels in an agricultural and forestry context have arisen from studies that have shown reduced water retention capacity at 150 and 540 days after application of the hydrogel to the soil (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005; SAVI *et al.*, 2014) and reduction in water absorption efficiency with increased EC of the wetting solution (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). Although there is a study indicating that hydrogels can absorb and conserve large amounts of water (> up to 1000 w w<sup>-1</sup>), even in adverse external environments (WANG *et al.*, 2019), it is common in commercial products to find high durability listed as a key performance indicator of the hydrogel for agricultural and forestry use. These aspects indicate the need to better understand the functioning of hydrogels over time and in saline conditions.

The absorption of water by hydrogels depends on the hydrophilic functional groups linked to the polymeric backbone while its resistance to dissolution is associated with the crosslinks between the chains of the polymeric network (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018). Salinity impairs water absorption, as hydrophilic groups of hydrogels bind to salts, blocking water from entering; also, salts suppress electrostatic interactions between the polymer and water molecules (XIONG *et al.*, 2018; ZHAO *et al.*, 2019). The reduction in swelling of hydrogels in saline conditions is attributed to a "charge screening effect" of additional cations, causing nonperfect anionic electrostatic repulsion (KWON; BAE; SUNG WAN KIM, 1991; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

Most agricultural hydrogels on the market consist of monomers or polymers of acrylic acid and polyacrylamide (SONG *et al.*, 2020) that are non-toxic. However, hydrogels also contain residual acrylamide monomer as a result of the synthesis process (XIONG *et al.*, 2018) and there is concern that this will be released into the environment by applying the product to the soil. The release of acrylamide monomer in the environment is undesirable due to its toxic effects (XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

Based on the above, the hypothesis was tested that there is an interaction between time and salinity reducing the water absorption potential of a commercial hydrogel, promoting its chemical degradation as well as the degradation of residual acrylamide. The objective of the study was to evaluate water absorption efficiency, residual acrylamide monomer concentration and the degradation of the commercial hydrogel in response to time and salinity, to obtain information to recommend its application to the soil of semiarid regions.

#### **2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 Characterization of the hydrogel

Hydrogel characterization was performed at the Polymer Laboratory of the Department of Organic and Inorganic Chemistry at the Federal University of Ceará (Fortaleza, CE, Brazil). The hydrogel used was a commercial product (Forth Gel®), characterized on the manufacturer's label as a copolymer of acrylamide and potassium acrylate. To refine the characterization of the product, the following analyses were performed: elementary, X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (FRX), particle size and residual acrylamide monomer concentration of the hydrogel before exposure to experimental salinity and time treatments.

Elementary analysis of carbon (C), hydrogen (H) and nitrogen (N) was performed using a Carlo Erba EA 1108 microanalyzer; with the C/N ratio was obtained by the ratio between C and N; the elemental composition of the acrylate was determined by X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (FRX) using X-ray fluorescence spectrometer, model ZSXMini II (Rigaku); the particle size fraction was determined using 24 mesh (0.710 mm), 35 mesh (0.425 mm) and 48 mesh (0.300 mm) sieves and residual acrylamide monomer was determined by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in a chromatograph model LC-20AD from Shimadzu, coupled to the diode array detector model SPD-M20A, at a wavelength of 197 nm.

Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) absorption spectroscopy and X-ray diffraction were also performed for the characterization of the polymer. Infrared absorption spectroscopy (FTIR) was performed on equipment FT IR-8500 (Shimadzu), operating in the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> range; X-ray diffraction was performed using an XPert Pro MPD diffractometer (Panalytical), with Cu-K $\alpha$  radiation, varying 2 $\theta$  from 5 to 70°.

The swelling of the commercial hydrogel in distilled water and saline solutions was characterized. To obtain the saline solution, sodium chloride (NaCl), calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) and magnesium chloride (MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O) solutions were dissolved in the ratio of 7:2:1, assuming the existing relationship between the electrical conductivity of irrigation water (ECw) and its concentration [Cs (mmol<sub>c</sub> L<sup>-1</sup>) = EC x 10]; where: Cs = concentration of salts; EC = pre-established electrical conductivity (RHOADES *et al.*, 1989).

To determine the swelling kinetics, 30 mg of the polymer was weighed in a 30 mL filter crucible (porosity N°0) previously moistened. This set was then completely submerged in the liquid medium (distilled or saline water). The set (crucible+gel) was removed at intervals of time (2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240 minutes), the outer wall of the

crucible was dried and weight was measured. The procedure was performed in triplicate. The hydrogel in granular form was screened to obtain a particle size between 24 and 35 mesh that was used in this swelling study. To calculate the swelling, formula 1 was used:

$$S = \frac{Wt - W0}{W0}$$
(1)

Where: W0 represents the mass (g) of the hydrogel dried at 65 °C and Wt is the mass (g) of the hydrogel expanded at time t.

Thus, the hydrogel swelling curve in distilled water (0.003 dS/m) and saline solutions with electrical conductivities of 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> were obtained. Some characteristics of the gel ( $W_{eq}$ ,  $t_{eq}$ , and Wt = 6 min) were obtained through the swelling curves (RAY; OKAMOTO, 2003).

#### 2.2 Experiment to assess the effects of time and salinity levels in the hydrogel

The experiment was installed on 10/04/2017 and conducted for 120 days at the Soil Management Laboratory of the Department of Soil Science at the Federal University of Ceará (Fortaleza, CE, Brazil).

The experimental design was completely randomized split plot in time with four repetitions (4x5) x 4, totalling 80 experimental units. Four hydration time periods were evaluated (30, 60, 90 and 120 days) with five levels of salinity of the hydration solution (distilled water = 0.003, 0.5; 1.5; 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). The electrical conductivity values of the solutions were equivalent to 5, 15, 30, 60 mmol<sub>c</sub> L<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding, respectively, to the risks of low salinity (Class 1: <0.75 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), medium (Class 2: 0,75 – 1.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), high (Class 3: 1.5 – 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) and very high (Class 4: > 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) (FRENKEL, 1984).

Each experimental unit consisted of a PVC column (10 x 20 cm), opened at the surface and closed at the base by a perforated PVC cap (for drainage). Each experimental unit was filled with 3g of hydrogel (Figure 3a). To install the experiment, the gels were initially dried at 65 °C. After reaching constant mass, they were hydrated with the solution for each treatment.


Figure 3 – Experimental unit (a); experimental units in the oven (b); overview of experimental units distributed on a bench (c).

Source: elaborated by the author.

For swelling inside the PVC cylinders, the dry hydrogel was inserted, and the swelling solution was inserted in the lid so that the swelling would occur by capillarity. When all hydrogels showed equilibrium in their swelling (~30 minutes), the units were weighed to calculate the initial swelling.

The hydrogel samples were submitted to the treatments (distilled water and with increasing levels of salinity), applying each solution corresponding to the treatments in individual reservoirs on which the PVC columns were placed, to keep the hydrogel in permanent contact with the solution. The cylinders were randomly placed on a bench and the solution was replaced daily (Figure 3b). At the end of each hydration period the respective columns were weighed to calculate the final swelling and then the samples were dried (65°C) to a constant mass (Figure 3c).

# 2.2.1 Response variables

At the end of the hydration periods tested, the experimental units were suspended until drainage ceased and subjected to the process used to determine the degree of final swelling, according to formula 1. With the dry hydrogel, the levels of C, H, and N in samples submitted to treatments, using Carlo ERBA EA 1108 microanalyst, as performed in the hydrogel characterization.

After the respective hydration period, the concentration of residual acrylamide monomer of the hydrogel was determined. For this, the dry hydrogel was submerged in deionized water for 4 h. This time of immersion of the hydrogel in deionized water was necessary to achieve equilibrium in the medium and provide the displacement of all residual monomer to the immersion water, following Bezerra (2015).

The immersion water was analyzed to determine the presence of residual acrylamide monomer by the technique of high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in a chromatograph model LC-20AD from Shimadzu, coupled to the diode array detector model SPD-M20A, at a wavelength of 197 nm. The acrylamide monomer was quantified from the area of its respective chromatographic peak, with elution time of 2.2 min, using a calibration curve obtained by diluting a 10-ppm solution of acrylamide monomers in deionized water. The results were expressed in mg of monomer/g of hydrogel (BEZERRA, 2015).

Also, the degradation of residual acrylamide monomers in the gel immersion water was quantified. With the results about the initial (new gel) and final (at the end of the experiment) contents of residual acrylamide monomers, the degradation of residual acrylamide (mg  $g^{-1}$ ) was calculated using the formula 2:

Initial acrylamide (mg 
$$g^{-1}$$
) - final acrylamide (mg  $g^{-1}$ ) (2)

X-ray diffraction analysis was performed as reported for the hydrogel characterization. To obtain the diffractogram of the hydrogels after the experiment, contrasting treatments were selected to facilitate the understanding of the results: shorter time (30 days) and longer evaluation time (120 days); distilled water and 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> saline solution.

# 2.2.2 Statistical analysis

The homogeneity of variance and the normality of the residues were tested before conducting the analysis of variance (Two-way-ANOVA) with level of significance p < 0.01 (99%). When the interaction between factors and/or each isolated factor was significant, linear regressions were performed. All statistical analyzes were performed using SAS 9.3 ("SAS 9.3 Software", 2011).

#### **3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## 3.1 Characterization of the hydrogel

The hydrogel used in the study showed 39.7% C; 6.7% H; 15.0% N; C/N ratio of 2.65 (Table 1). In the elementary chemical composition of the acrylate present in the hydrogel, the presence of a greater amount (99.2%) of potassium (K) and the occurrence of 0.8% of sulfur (S) was found (Table 1). The high amount of K confirms that the acrylate used in the synthesis of the hydrogel evaluated was K and, therefore, confirms that the material is a copolymer of acrylamide and K-acrylate.

Table 1 – Elementary analysis of carbon (% C), hydrogen (% H), nitrogen (% N), carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N) of the hydrogel; elementary chemical composition of the acrylate (%) with potassium (K) and sulfur (S) contents, granulometric distribution and residual acrylamide of the commercial hydrogel before applying the treatments (new gel).

Elementary analysis (%)			Acrylate elementary composition (%)		
С	Н	Ν	C/N	Κ	S
39.7	6.70	15.0	2.65	99.2	0.8
Particle size fraction (%)			Residual acrylamide		
<24 mesh	24-35 mesh	35-48 mesh	>48 mesh	$(\text{mg g}^{-1})$	
12	37	15	36	0.50	

Source: elaborated by the author.

In the granulometric fraction, greater amounts of hydrogel (37 and 36%) were observed in the fractions of 24-35 mesh and the >48 mesh, respectively (Table 1). The residual acrylamide monomer content (0.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) corresponds to 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and is within the manufacturing limits reported in the literature for agricultural PAMs (200-500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and within the manufacturing level considered as low (<0.05%) (CASTLE, 1993; XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

The bands of the spectrum (Figure 1a) show the formation of a copolymer due to the appearance of the band in 1682 cm<sup>-1</sup>, referring to the C=O stretch of amide (amide band I), coming from acrylamide, and in the band in 1560 cm<sup>-1</sup>, referring to the asymmetric stretching of the carboxylate ion (COO<sup>-</sup>) from the acrylate (MAGALHÃES *et al.*, 2012). The hydrogel X-ray diffractogram (Figure 1b) shows an absence of crystallinity, indicating that it is an amorphous material.



Source: elaborated by the author.

Graph 1 shows the curve obtained from the swelling of the commercial hydrogel Forth Gel®. The swelling curve of the hydrogel in distilled water indicates a rapid initial absorption followed by an equilibrium level ( $W_{eq}$ ).

Graph 1 – Hydrogel swelling curve in distilled water and solutions of sodium chloride (NaCl), calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) and magnesium chloride (MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O) dissolved in a 7:2:1 ratio at electrical conductivity of 0.5, 1.5 3.0 and 6.0 dS/m (d) at 25 °C.



Source: elaborated by the author.

Swelling is an important parameter in the characterization of crosslinked hydrogels (KIPCAK *et al.*, 2014). The degree of maximum swelling is defined as the ratio of the mass of the swelled hydrogel, in equilibrium, and the mass of the dry hydrogel. The profiles of the

swelling curves for the hydrogel in saline solutions differ significantly from the profile in distilled water. These show a rapid mass gain in the first minutes followed by deceleration until equilibrium ( $W_{eq}$ ) is achieved (Graph 1). The 0.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup> saline solution is associated with a 75% reduction in at 240 minutes as compared with the hydrogel hydrated with distilled water (Graph 1). For the hydration solutions of 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> the reduction in swelling of the hydrogel is 87, 91 and 94%, respectively as compared with the distilled water control.

When swollen, the polymeric nets of hydrogels are more elastic. The osmotic force that assists in carrying the solution into the polymeric network is counterbalanced by a retractive elastic force (FLORY; REHNER, 1943). Thus, when the osmotic and elastic forces are equal, the hydrogel will have reached the state of swelling equilibrium, obtaining the maximum water absorption value ( $W_{eq}$ ) at a certain time ( $t_{eq}$ ). The hydrogel obtained, in distilled water,  $W_{eq} = 462 \pm 3.0$ g of water/g of the hydrogel, Wt (6 min) =  $389 \pm 3.5$  and reached equilibrium with  $t_{eq} = 30$  min (Table 2).

Table 2 – Swelling kinetics in distilled water and 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS/m hydration solutions of the hydrogel of potassium acrylate-co-acrylamide.

Forth Gel®	Weq (g of water/g of gel)	t <sub>eq</sub> (min)	$W_{t=6 min}$
Distilled water	$462 \pm 3.0$	30	$389 \pm 3.5$
0.5 dS/m	$184 \pm 3.6$	25	$156 \pm 5.4$
1.5 dS/m	$81 \pm 5.9$	25	$65 \pm 6.5$
3.0 dS/m	$56 \pm 3.4$	25	$46 \pm 0.4$
6.0 dS/m	$36 \pm 1.0$	25	$30 \pm 1.1$

Attributes of swelling kinetics ( $W_{eq}$  - swelling in equilibrium,  $t_{eq}$  - equilibrium time and  $W_{t=6 \text{ min}}$  - swelling in time = 6 minutes). Source: elaborated by the author.

The hydrogel can be considered superabsorbent, as it absorbed more than 300 times its dry mass in water (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). In the presence of saline solutions,  $W_{eq}$  gradually decreased. For solutions of 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> the  $W_{eq}$  was  $184 \pm 3.6$ ,  $81 \pm 5.9$ ,  $56 \pm 3.4$ , and  $36 \pm 1.0$  g of water/g of hydrogel, respectively. For all saline solutions, the hydrogel had an equilibrium time of 25 minutes (Table 2).

# 3.2 Experiment to assess the effects of time and salinity levels on the hydrogel

By the F test of the analysis of variance (Table 1 - ANNEX A), the interaction between the factors (salinity\*time) was significant, proceeding the study split from one factor

into the other for the variables: final swelling ( $W_{final}$ ), residual acrylamide monomer concentration, acrylamide degradation, and C/N, as discussed below.

The Forth Gel® hydrogel studied exhibited different water absorption capacities, depending on salinity and time (Graph 2a and b).

Graph 2 – Swelling degree (g H<sub>2</sub>O/g dry gel) of hydrogel of potassium acrylateco-acrylamide as a function of salinity levels (0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS  $m^{-1} = 0.03$ , 5, 15, 30 and 60 mmol/L) of hydration solution (a) and time (30, 60, 90 and 120 days) (b).



Source: elaborated by the author.

At 30 days, the smallest swelling statistically significant was 14.61 g g<sup>-1</sup> in EC 4.40 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Graph 2a). At 60, 90 and 120 days the smallest swellings (26.5, 18.6 and 8.1 g g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) occurred in ECs 4.5, 4.42 and 4.16 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, 4.20 dS m<sup>-1</sup> is therefore considered to be a critical value of EC to the reduction in the swelling of the commercial hydrogel, since in all the evaluation times the reduction of the swelling was accentuated already in this conductivity. The swelling of hydrogels that have ionic functional groups depends on the concentration and valence of ions in the swelling solution (GŁOWIŃSKA; TROCHIMCZUK; JAKUBIAK-MARCINKOWSKA, 2019).

The reduction in swelling is attributed to a "charge screening effect" of the additional cations in the solution, causing non-perfect anionic electrostatic repulsion (KWON; BAE; SUNG WAN KIM, 1991; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011). This term refers to the protection of carboxylate anions by additional cations, which prevents an effective anion-anion repulsion. Therefore, the reduction of osmotic pressure results in a decrease in the concentration of mobile ions between the hydrogel and the aqueous phases, decreasing the water absorption by the hydrogel. Also, in the case of saline solutions with multivalent cations, such as the one used in the present study, ionic cross-linking on the surface of the polymeric network causes a decrease in the swelling capacity (FLORY, 1953; HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014).

The decrease in swelling depends on the type and concentration of salts present in the solution (HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014). Divalent elements, such as those found in the saline solution of the present study ( $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ ), can decrease the swelling of hydrogels. This is due to the binding of ions with the carboxamide or carboxylate groups of hydrogel and the formation of inter and intramolecular complexes (SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

Monovalent cations, such as Na<sup>+</sup>, can shield the carboxylate anions of the polymeric structure, contributing to compact the three-dimensional structure due to the lower repulsion between fixed network charges, leading to a decrease in the osmotic pressure difference between the polymeric network and the external solution and, consequently, a decrease in the water holding capacity (MAGALHÃES *et al.*, 2013; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

The improvement in the absorption of saline solutions is a critical point in the development of hydrogels (LIM *et al.*, 2001). For greater absorption of saline solutions by hydrogels, it is recommended to introduce hydrophilic groups (into the polymeric network) that are more prone to ionization, such as sulfonic and phosphate groups, in which the degree of association with mobile ions present in the saline solution would be lower than that observed in the carboxylic acid group (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

In distilled water (EC 0.003 dS/m) there was a minimum point in the swelling of the hydrogel (114.01 g g<sup>-1</sup>) at 102 days (Graph 2b). For ECs 0.5, 1.5 and 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, decreasing functions were observed, so that for each elapsed day there was a reduction in the swelling of the hydrogel of 0.60, 0.40 and 0.22 g g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. For the 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> hydration solution, the swelling of the hydrogel was markedly reduced, with the maximum value (34.25 g g<sup>-1</sup>) being reached at 47 days.

The observed reduction in swelling indicates that the hydrogel does not remain with the same functionality over time, even in distilled water. This is not favorable for agricultural or forestry use, and there is a need to improve the hydrogel so that its effects (Water absorption potential) are durable. Other studies have also shown a reduction in hydrogel functionality over time. The absorption of water by the hydrogel has been reported to decrease over time, showing a marked decrease 540 days after application to the soil (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005). A significant loss of hydrogel water retention capacity was observed after 150 days in a substrate with *Salvia officinalis* (SAVI *et al.*, 2014).

Concerning residual acrylamide, at 30 days the EC 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> provided a minimum value (0.19 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) (Graph 3a). At 60, 90 and 120 days, ECs 4.05, 3.9 and 4.2 dS m<sup>-1</sup> provided minimum values of 0.09, 0.06 and 0.07 mg g<sup>-1</sup> of residual acrylamide monomer (RA<sub>m</sub>), respectively. In distilled water, the maximum residual acrylamide monomer concentration (0.44 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) is estimated to occurred at 56 days (Graph 3b), which is the highest value observed between treatments. This maximum level of residual acrylamide monomer (0.44 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) corresponds to 440 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and is within the manufacturing limits reported in the literature for agricultural PAMs (200-500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and within the manufacturing level considered low (<0.05%) (CASTLE, 1993; XIONG *et al.*, 2018). These low levels found are due to the efforts of the industry that have been encouraged to change methods to reduce levels of residual acrylamide monomer in PAMs (SATHESH PRABU; THATHEYUS, 2007).

In ECs 0.5, 1.5 and 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> decreasing functions were found, with a reduction in RA<sub>m</sub> concentrations of 0.00218, 0.0017 and 0.00132 mg g<sup>-1</sup> per day, respectively (Graph 3b). For the maximum EC (6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>), a minimum value (0.11 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) of residual acrylamide was observed at 100 days (Graph 3b).

The hydrogel investigated has acceptable initial levels of potentially toxic RA<sub>m</sub>. It is also considered to be stable as there was no increase in acrylamide concentrations resulting from possible depolymerization of acrylamide in the hydrogel polymeric chain (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005; XIONG *et al.*, 2018). This corroborates a study which showed that the addition of 1% (w w<sup>-1</sup>) of PAM soil conditioner in tomato and wheat plantations did not pollute the soil with acrylamide monomers resulting from depolymerization (KUSNIN; SYED; AHMAD, 2015).

Residual acrylamide was analyzed in corn, potatoes, sugar beet and beans produced following PAM application to the soil. The tested cultures showed <10 ppb of acrylamide, concluding that, over time, acrylamide is reduced in plant tissue (BOLOGNA; ANDRAWES; BARVENIK, 1999).

Graph 3 – Final residual acrylamide (mg acrylamide/g dry gel) of a hydrogel of potassium acrylate-co-acrylamide as a function of salinity levels (0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) of hydration solution (a) and time (30, 60, 90 and 120 days) (b).



Source: elaborated by the author.

Although acrylamide levels are within the tolerable limit, it is suggested that the post-synthesis polymer washing process should be improved, since some of the monomer values found were located at the upper limit (Initial pre-testing hydrogel RA<sub>m</sub> concentration of 0.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup> - Table 1) and close to the upper limit (hydrogel in distilled water at 56 days; 0.44 mg g<sup>-1</sup> - graph 3b). This improvement in washing after hydrogel synthesis would further reduce RA<sub>m</sub> levels and increase safety when applying the hydrogel to the soil (BEZERRA, 2015).

Monomeric acrylamide contains an unsaturated vinyl group that is vulnerable to various chemical reactions (MATOSO *et al.*, 2019) facilitating its degradation. The acrylamide monomer is decomposed into propionamide and propanoic acid. Propanoic acid is a fatty acid metabolized by plants, while propionamide is degraded to CO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, and H<sub>2</sub>O (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005).

In the current study, at 30 days the greatest degradation of 0.33 mg g<sup>-1</sup> was observed at an EC of 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. At 60 days the maximum degradation was 0.40 mg g<sup>-1</sup> in EC 4.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. At 90 and 120 days, the degradation was similar (0.43 and 0.42 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) and maximum in ECs 3.0 and 4.2 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Graph 4a). Between the ECs of 3.0 to 4.2 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, the maximum degradation of RA<sub>m</sub> occurred for the longest evaluation times (90 and 120 days).

Under simulated environmental conditions, it was found that PAM hydrogel did not degrade to acrylamide, but RA<sub>m</sub> did degrade to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations increased as the levels of RA<sub>m</sub> decreased (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1997). According to the polymer characterization analysis (Table 1), NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> is a measurable product of RA<sub>m</sub> degradation and can contribute to the development of plants, since NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> is one form of how plants absorb N, which is essential for plant metabolism (MOREAU *et al.*, 2019; SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996a). The accumulation of N in forest seedlings increased over time and with the increase of Forth Gel® doses in a substrate (ALBUQUERQUE, 2019), proving the use of N from the hydrogel by the plants.

Graphic 4 – Residual acrylamide degradation (mg acrylamide/g dry gel) of a hydrogel of potassium acrylate-co-acrylamide as a function of salinity levels (0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) of hydration solution (a) and as a function of time (30, 60, 90 e 120 days) (b).



Source: elaborated by the author.

In distilled water, less degradation of  $RA_m$  (0.08 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) was observed at 56 days (Graph 4b). For ECs 0.5, 1.5 and 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, RA<sub>m</sub> degradation was observed in increasing functions, so that daily degradation of 0.0022, 0.0017 and 0.0013 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, occurs. For the EC 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment, a maximum point of RA<sub>m</sub> degradation of 0.41 mg g<sup>-1</sup> was observed at 100 days (Graph 4b). These results show that RA<sub>m</sub> is degraded rapidly, especially at low concentrations. However, higher concentrations of acrylamide require more time to degrade, remaining stable for more than 60 days in tap water (BROWN *et al.*, 1980).

The degradation of RA<sub>m</sub>, at all salinity levels, is greater with the increase in the evaluation time (Graph 4b), confirming that acrylamide is degraded in days (LANDE; BOSCH; HOWARD, 1979) and is susceptible to biodegradation in soil and surface water, which reduces the risk of accumulation in the environment (NEELY; BRANSON; BLAU, 1974; TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017).

At 30 days, the C/N was estimated to be maximum (3.45) at an EC of 2.80 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 5a). At 60 and 90 days, increasing functions were observed, with daily increments in the C/N of 0.039 and 0.012, respectively. At 120 days, the maximum C/N (3.90) was observed for an estimated EC of 4.40 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. In distilled water, maximum C/N (3.68) was observed at an estimated 87 days (Graph 5b). For ECs 0.5, 1.5 and 3.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, increasing functions were found, with daily increments in the C/N of 0.005, 0.006 and 0.004, respectively. For the EC 6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> hydration solution, the maximum C/N value (3.9) occurred at an estimated 108 days.

The C/N ratio of the hydrogel evaluated increased with time and salinity levels in relation to the C/N of the hydrogel pre-testing (2.60 - Table 1), being close to 4.0 (Graph 5a and b). With the increase in C/N in relation to the hydrogel pre-testing, the degradation and the greater release of N from the polymer chain is confirmed in contrast to C. The increase in the C/N ratio of the hydrogel about the hydrogel pre-testing is attributed to hydrolysis, as well as the possible microbial growth inside the hydrogel, since the average microbial C:N is about 7:1 (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005).

While monomeric acrylamide contains an unsaturated vinyl group that is vulnerable to a wide range of chemical reactions (MATOSO *et al.*, 2019), once polymerized, the double bond disappears leaving only the amide group exposed and susceptible to typical amide reactions (for example, hydrolysis or Hoffman's rearrangement) (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005). The results of this study indicate the hydrolysis of the amide groups of the hydrogel tested increased the C/N ratio above that of the re-testing level. The results of increasing the C/N for the samples for 120 days suggest that hydrolysis is an important degradation pathway.

Graph 5 – C/N ratio of commercial hydrogel of a hydrogel of potassium acrylate-co-acrylamide as a function of salinity levels  $(0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 \text{ and } 6.0 \text{ dS m}^{-1})$  of hydration solution (a) and as a function of time (30, 60, 90 and 120 days) (b).



Source: elaborated by the author.

The spectra of the acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer before the experiment (Graph 1a), in distilled water and time = 30 days, distilled water and time = 120 days,  $3 dS m^{-1}$  saline solution and time = 30 days,  $3 dS m^{-1}$  saline solution and time = 120 days are shown in Graph 6.



Graph 6 – Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) spectra of Forth Gel®.

<u>New gel</u>: hydrogel before the experiment; <u>DW; 30 days</u>: hydrogel in distilled water at 30 days; <u>DW;</u> <u>120 days</u>: hydrogel in distilled water at 120 days; 3dS m<sup>-1</sup>; 30 days: hydrogel in 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> solution at 30 days; <u>3dS m<sup>-1</sup>; 120 days</u>: hydrogel in a 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> solution at 120 days. Source: elaborated by the author.

Table 3 lists the assignments of the main bands highlighted in Graph 6.

speeda of form dele	
Forth gel®	Assignment
3421	v. NH of acrylamide unit
3300	υ OH of adsorbed water
3194	$v_s$ NH <sub>2</sub> of acrylamide unit
2941, 2860	nCH and nCH
1682	n C=O of acrylamide
1560	COO <sup>-</sup> of acrylate

Table 3 – Attribution of main bands in FTIR (Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy) spectra of Forth Gel

Source: Magalhães et al. (2012).

The bands at 3421 cm<sup>-1</sup> ( $v_{as}$  NH<sub>2</sub>), 3194 cm<sup>-1</sup> ( $v_{s}$  NH<sub>2</sub>) and 1682 cm<sup>-1</sup> (n C = O) are characteristic of acrylamide. The band at 1560 cm<sup>-1</sup> occurs due to the asymmetric stretching of the carboxylate group from the acrylate (MAGALHÃES *et al.*, 2012). The presence of adsorbed water can be seen by the band at 3300 cm<sup>-1</sup> in all spectra and the displacement in the band 2941 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicates a change in methylene - main chain of Forth Gel® (polymeric backbone).

In the peaks referring to acrylamide (3401, 3194, 1687 cm<sup>-1</sup>), little change was observed, with a more noticeable change being observed in 1682 cm<sup>-1</sup>, with an increase in the more pronounced peak in the spectrum of the swollen hydrogel in EC 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> at 120 days, in the band referring to the amide I of the acrylamide (stretch C=O of amide).

In all the curves shown in Graph 6, it is observed that, after contact with distilled water or saline solution over time, there was a change in the chemical structure of the hydrogel, in different proportions, since there was a shift in the wavelength of the bands of the methylene, amides, and acrylate. In this case, it is possible to observe that the level of salinity and/or time period are altering the chemical structure of the hydrogel, indicating its degradation. These results confirm that the degradation of the hydrogel evaluated can be accelerated in the presence of solutions containing Ca, Mg salts and by the concentration of salts contained in the soils (FREITAS *et al.*, 2019) and over time (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005). This degradation occurs without any release of RA<sub>m</sub> but represents limitations to the hydrogel's functionality in the long term.

## **4 CONCLUSIONS**

It is accepted the hypothesis that there is an interaction between time and salinity levels, reducing the water absorption potential of the commercial hydrogel tested, favoring its chemical degradation as well as the degradation of the RA<sub>m</sub>. This implies a reduction in the durability of the hydrogel.

There is a reduction in the absorption capacity with an increase in the time of use in all salinity levels demonstrating that the hydrogel loses absorption capacity. This may be an obstacle for agricultural and forestry use if high water absorption is required for periods >120 days. Therefore, there is a need for further studies to evaluate the durability of the hydrogel when applied to the soil in forest and agricultural contexts. Future research should be based on improving the characteristics of hydrogels and their functionality over long periods and in adverse conditions (such as salinity) in irrigation water and soil.

It is recommended to use the Forth Gel® in the lowest salinity levels (~ 0.003 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) of the irrigation water possible to obtain swelling >150 g g<sup>-1</sup> since small additions of salts (0.003–0.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) reduce water holding capacity drastically (~40%). However, it should be noted that even in distilled water, changes in water absorption occur over time (reduction of ~43% of the swelling when compare 30 with 120 days); water with salinity levels provide changes in the swelling, reducing this drastically but the levels of acrylamide monomer are lower under these conditions.

The studied hydrogel does not present any problems regarding  $RA_m$  levels since both the initial and the final concentrations were within acceptable levels and there was no formation of the monomer in the salinity range of the immersion solutions (water, saline solution) and in the studied times. Up to 85% of the residual monomer was degraded within 120 days. Although the RA<sub>m</sub> levels found are not considered high, it is recommended to improve the post-synthesis polymer washing process, which would further reduce the levels and increase environmental safety and handling with its use.

The level of salinity and/or time changes the chemical structure of the hydrogel, indicating a degradation process which has the potential to compromise its durability.

#### REFERENCES

ACOSTA, J. A. *et al.* Assessment of salinity status in intensively cultivated soils under semiarid climate, Murcia, SE Spain. Journal of Arid Environments, [sl.], v. 75, n. 11, p. 1056–1066, 2011.

ALBUQUERQUE, G. H. S. **Hidrogel de acrilamida e acrilato para estratégias de recuperação de um Argissolo em processo de degradação**. 2019. 124 f. Tese de doutorado (Doutorado em Ciência do Solo) - Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, 2019.

ANDRY, H. *et al.* Water retention, hydraulic conductivity of hydrophilic polymers in sandy soil as affected by temperature and water quality. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 373, n. 1–2, p. 177–183, 2009.

ARAÚJO FILHO, J. A. Manejo Pastoril Sustentável da Caatinga. Recife: Projeto Dom Elder Câmara, 2013.

AYERS, R. S.; WESTCOT, D. W. **Water quality for agriculture**. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1985.

BEZERRA, M. N. **Hidrogéis superabsorventes compósitos de poli(acrilamida-co-acrilato de** potássio) e carbonatos para aplicação agrícola. 2015. 135 f. Tese de doutorado (Doutorado em Química) - Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, 2015.

BOLOGNA, L. S.; ANDRAWES, F. F.; BARVENIK, F. W. Analysis of residual acrylamide in field crops. Journal of Chromatographic Science, [*sl.*], v. 37, p. 240–244, 1999.

BROWN, L. *et al.* Model studies of the degradation of acrylamide monomer. **Water Research**, Amsterdam, v. 14, n. 7, p. 775–778, 1980.

CASTLE, L. Determination of acrylamide monomer in mushrooms grown on polyacrylamide gel. **Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry**, *[sl.]*, v. 41, n. 8, p. 1261–1263, 1993.

FENG, S.; FU, Q. Expansion of global drylands under a warming climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, [*sl.*], v. 13, n. 19, p. 10081–10094, 2013.

FLORY, P. J. Principles of polymer chemistry. Cornell University Press, 1953.

FLORY, P. J.; REHNER, J. Statistical mechanics of cross-linked polymer networks. **The Journal of Chemical Physics**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 11, p. 512–520, 1943.

FREITAS, J. S. *et al.* Fotodegradação de hidrogel de poliacrilamida na presença de substâncias químicas para o uso na agricultura. **Revista Matéria**, Rio de Janeiro, v. 24, n. 3, 2019.

FRENKEL, H. Reassessment of water quality criteria for irrigation. In: Ecological studies: analysis and synthesis, 1984.

GHEYI, H.; QUEIROZ, J.; MEDEIROS, J. DE. Manejo e controle da salinidade na agricultura irrigada. Campina Grande: UFPB, 1997.

GŁOWIŃSKA, A.; TROCHIMCZUK, A. W.; JAKUBIAK-MARCINKOWSKA, A. Novel acrylate/organophosphorus-based hydrogels for agricultural applications. New outlook and innovative concept for the use of 2- (methacryloyloxy) ethyl phosphate as a multi-purpose monomer. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 110, p. 202–210, 2019.

HEIDARI, S. et al. Synthesis of an efficient copolymer of acrylamide and acrylic acid and

determination of its swelling behavior. Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology, [sl.], v. 8, n. 4, p. 1331–1340, 2018.

HOLLIMAN, P. J. *et al.* Model and field studies of the degradation of cross-linked polyacrylamide gels used during the revegetation of slate waste. Science of the Total Environment, *[sl.]*, v. 336, n. 1–3, p. 13–24, 2005.

HOU, X. *et al.* Superabsorbent polymers influence soil physical properties and increase potato tuber yield in a dry-farming region. **Journal of Soils and Sediments**, *[sl.]*, v. 18, p. 816–826, 2018.

KIPCAK, A. S. *et al.* Modeling and investigation of the swelling kinetics of acrylamidesodium acrylate hydrogel. **Journal of Chemistry**, Los Angeles, n. 2014, 2014.

KUSNIN, N.; SYED, M. A.; AHMAD, S. A. Toxicity, pollution and biodegradation of acrylamide – a mini review. **Journal of biochemistry, microbiology and biotechnology**, *[sl.]*, v. 3, n. 2, p. 6–12, 2015.

KWON, I. C.; BAE, Y. H.; SUNG WAN KIM. Electrically Erodible polymer gel for controlled release of drugs. **Nature**, Basingstoke, v. 354, p. 291–293, 1991.

LANDE, S. S.; BOSCH, S. J.; HOWARD, P. H. Degradation and leaching of acrylamide in soil. Journal of Environmental Quality, [*sl.*], v. 8, p. 133–137, 1979.

LIM, D.W. *et al.* Synthesis and absorbency of a superabsorbent from sodium starch sulfate-g-polyacrylonitrile. **Journal of Applied Polymer Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 79, p. 1423–1430, 2001.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Application of FTIR in the determination of acrylate content in poly(sodium acrylateco-acrylamide) superabsorbent hydrogels. **Química Nova**, São Paulo, v. 35, n. 7, p. 1464–1467, 2012.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel composite with minerals aimed at water sustainability. **Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society**, São Paulo, v. 24, n. 2, p. 304–313, 2013.

MATOSO, V. *et al.* Acrylamide : A review about its toxic effects in the light of Developmental Origin of Health and Disease (DOHaD) concept. **Food Chemistry**, *[sl.]*, v. 283, p. 422–430, 2019.

MIRDARIKVANDE, S. *et al.* Effect of pH, and Salinity onto Swelling Properties of Hydrogels Based on H-alginate-g-poly (AMPS). **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 205–209, 2014.

MOREAU, D. *et al.* A plant perspective on nitrogen cycling in the rhizosphere. **Functional Ecology**, *[sl.]*, v. 33, p. 540–552, 2019.

NEELY, W. B.; BRANSON, D. R.; BLAU, G. E. Partition coefficient to measure bioconcentration potential of organic chemicals in fish. **Environmental Science and Technology**, New York, v. 8, n. 13, p. 1113–1115, 1974.

PIÑERO, M. C. *et al.* Changes in the salinity tolerance of sweet pepper plants as affected by nitrogen form and high CO2 concentration. **Journal of Plant Physiology**, *[sl.]*, v. 200, p. 18–27, 2016.

RAY, S. S.; OKAMOTO, M. Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: A review from preparation to processing. **Progress in Polymer Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 28, n. 11, p. 1539–1641, 2003.

RHOADES, J. D. *et al.* Soil electrical conductivity and soil salinity: new formulations and calibrations. **Soil Science Society of America Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 53, n. 2, p. 433–439, 1989.

SADEGHI, M.; GHASEMI, N.; YARAHMADI, M. Drug release rtudy from superabsorbent hydrogel based on poly 2-acrylamido-2-methylpropanesulfonic acid grafted collagen. **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 2, p. 425–434, 2011.

SAS 9.3 Software. SAS Institute Inc Cary, NC, , 2011.

SATHESH PRABU, C.; THATHEYUS, A. J. Biodegradation of acrylamide employing free and immobilized cells of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. **International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation**, *[sl.]*, v. 60, p. 69–73, 2007.

SAVI, T. *et al.* Green roofs for a drier world: Effects of hydrogel amendment on substrate and plant water status. **Science of the Total Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 490, p. 467–476, 2014.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental degradation of polyacrylamides. I. Effects of artificial environmental conditions: Temperature, light, and pH. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 35, p. 121–135, 1996.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental Degradation of Polyacrylamides II. Effects of Environmental (Outdoor) Exposure. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 37, p. 76–91, 1997.

SONG, B. *et al.* Hydrogel synthesis based on lignin/sodium alginate and application in agriculture. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 144, p. 219–230, 2020.

TEPE, Y.; ÇEBI, A. Acrylamide in environmental Water: a review on sources, exposure, and public health risks. **Exposure and Health**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 3–12, 2017.

THOMBARE, N. *et al.* Design and development of guar gum based novel, superabsorbent and moisture retaining hydrogels for agricultural applications. **Carbohydrate Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 185, p. 169–178, 2018.

WANG, S. *et al.* A remarkable thermosensitive hydrogel cross-linked by two inorganic nanoparticles with opposite charges. **Journal of Colloid and Interface Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 538, p. 530–540, 2019.

XIONG, B. *et al.* Polyacrylamide degradation and its implications in environmental systems. **npj Clean Water**, London, v. 1, n. 17, p. 1–9, 2018.

ZAIN, G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel based on sulfonated-starch for improving water and saline absorbency. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 115, p. 61–68, 2018.

ZHAO, C. *et al.* Salt-tolerant superabsorbent polymer with high capacity of water-nutrient retention derived from sulfamic acid-modified starch. **ACS Omega**, *[sl.]*, v. 4, p. 5923–5930, 2019.

# 4 TIME OF EXPOSURE TO TEMPERATURES AS A LIMITATION ON AGRICULTURAL USE OF HYDROGELS

# ABSTRACT

Due to their water retention capacity, hydrogels are considered promising to improve plant available water in the soil in semi-arid environments; however, little is known about how temperature affects the functionality of hydrogels. In this study, the effect of temperature on physical attributes of soil amended with hydrogel was evaluated. A laboratory experiment was installed in a scheme (4x4) x 4 - four temperatures (30; 45; 65 and 105 °C), four exposure times (40, 70, 100, and 130 days) with four repetitions. Soil moisture at field capacity ( $\theta_{FC}$ ) and permanent wilting point ( $\theta_{WP}$ ), plant available water (AW), bulk density, and soil porosity were evaluated. The data were submitted to analysis of variance. The hydrogel increased the  $\theta_{FC}$  of the soil, from 0.140 to 0.178 and 0.179 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> at 40 and 70 days, respectively, up to a soil temperature of 69°C. At 40 days, a minimum  $\theta_{WP}$  (0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) was observed at 92 °C. Field capacity increased, while the  $\theta_{WP}$  decreased, providing improved soil water storage. AW was higher in soil with hydrogel even at temperatures above 60°C. In all treatments evaluated, the soil bulk density and porosity were improved in comparison to the un-amended control. This constitutes an advantage in the use of the hydrogel as a soil conditioner. Even with the interaction of abiotic factors acting on the hydrogel, there are beneficial effects on the water storage capacity, soil bulk density, and soil porosity.

Keywords: Hydrogel. Superabsorbent copolymer. Physical soil properties. Water storage.

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

Drylands, which include arid and semiarid ecosystems, cover 41% of the earth's surface, play an important role in the global ecosystem, and are home to more than two billion people (HOOVER *et al.*, 2020). Arid and semiarid environments are peculiar in terms of landforms, soil, fauna, flora, and water balance. Water scarcity and high-intensity, low-frequency rainfall are characteristic of these regions (SANTOS *et al.*, 2016).

The global expansion of arid lands will increase the population affected by water scarcity and land degradation (FENG; FU, 2013). To feed an increasing global population, it is necessary to take advantage of drylands and use their natural resources sustainably (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). Severe water scarcity is becoming common in many arid and semiarid regions of the world (MOHAMMADINEZHAD; AHMADVAND, 2020), with water management being one of the biggest challenges for these regions (ABOBATTA, 2018).

Among the alternatives for supplying water to plants in arid and semiarid regions, soil conditioners stand out, which helps to overcome adverse conditions, favoring plant development. Hydrogels proved to increase water use efficiency where irrigation water is limited (BAKASS; MOKHLISSE; LALLEMANT, 2002), and have been used in dry regions to increase the soil's capacity to absorb and retain water (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018) and improve crop growth (YANG *et al.*, 2018). Positive effects of hydrogels have also been related to increased soil porosity, providing better oxygenation to plant roots (ULLAH *et al.*, 2015) and reduced soil bulk density (HOU *et al.*, 2018).

Considering the characteristics of arid and semiarid regions, it is necessary to understand how high temperatures affect the hydrogel applied to the soil. Studies have indicated that increasing temperature compromises the functionality of agricultural hydrogels, highlighting a reduction of up to 60% of the water retention capacity in soil amended with hydrogel at temperatures up to 35 °C (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). The absorption of water by a hydrophilic polymer decreased with increasing temperature from 30 to 60 °C (ZHAO *et al.*, 2005).

Hydrogels can absorb and lose water in a reversible way, being related to intrinsic factors of the external environment, such as temperature, which in turn can contribute to the collapse or phase change (AHMED, 2015). At a critical temperature, the elasticity of the hydrogel reaches zero and the hydrogel becomes infinitely compressible (MOLLOY; SMITH; COWLING, 2000). At a constant temperature of 37 °C, it has been reported that the hydrogel can change its physical properties (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996a).

In arid and semiarid regions of the world, soil temperature values ranging from 25 to 60 °C have been recorded (CORREIA *et al.*, 2012; GAO *et al.*, 2007; REYES *et al.*, 2016; WU *et al.*, 2017; XIAO *et al.*, 2016). Inappropriate management practices (e.g. deforestation) are commonly adopted in semiarid regions, leaving the soil exposed to the effects of temperature, as solar radiation starts to directly affect the soil (SCHARENBROCH; BOCKHEIM, 2007; SOUTO *et al.*, 2005). Thus, it is important to know the extent to which temperature negatively affects the functionality of hydrogels for agricultural use.

Thus, the hypothesis was tested that even in the face of thermal stress and exposure time, a commercial hydrogel provides beneficial effects by improving the water storage capacity, soil bulk density, and soil porosity. The objective of the study was to evaluate physical attributes of soil that received hydrogel through times of exposure to temperatures that are indicative of arid and semiarid regions, to obtain information for the use of hydrogels as a strategy for improving water availability in adverse conditions.

#### **2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 Experimental site and soil used

The study was carried out from January to June 2018 through an experiment installed and conducted at the Soil Physics laboratory of the Federal University of Ceará, located at the Campus do Pici (Fortaleza, CE, Brazil). The soil used in the experiment was a Leptsol with a sandy loam texture, collected at the Vale do Curu Experimental Farm (Pentecoste, CE). The surface layer of 0-0.2 m of soil was collected with visible signs of degradation (absence of vegetation, erosion processes, signs of fire use, and compaction). The collected samples were air-dried, ground, to pass a < 2 mm sieve and homogenised prior to physical and chemical characterization (Table 1).

Physical attributes	Depth (0-0.2m)	Chemical attributes	Depth (0-0.2 m)
Sand (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	736	pH water 1:2,5	6.82
Silt (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	225	$Ca^{2+}(cmol_c kg^{-1})$	7.0
Clay (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	39	$Mg^{2+}(cmol_c kg^{-1})$	1.90
Disp. clay (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>1</sup>	25	$K^+(cmol_c kg^{-1})$	0.56
DF $(\%)^2$	37	Na <sup>+</sup> (cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	0.08
Silt/clay	5.8	$S (cmol_c kg^{-1})^9$	9.54
Texture	Sandy loam	$Al^{3+}$ (cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	0.10
Ds $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})^3$	1.49	$\rm H^+$ (cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	2.20
P (%) <sup>4</sup>	44.0	$CEC (cmol_c kg^{-1})^{10}$	11.8
$\theta_{\rm sat} ({\rm m}^3~{\rm m}^{-3})^5$	0.44	C org $(g kg^{-1})^{11}$	13.0
$\theta_{\rm fc} ({\rm m}^3 {\rm m}^{-3})^6$	0.14	V (%) <sup>12</sup>	80.6
$\theta_{wp} (m^3 m^{-3})^7$	0.10	$m (\%)^{13}$	1.08
$AW (m^3 m^{-3})^8$	0.04	PST (%) <sup>14</sup>	0.68

Table 1 – Physical and chemical attributes of the 0-0.2m litter of the Leptsol used in the study, from Pentecoste-CE.

<sup>1</sup>dispersed clay in water; <sup>2</sup>degree of flocculation;<sup>3</sup>soil density; <sup>4</sup>total porosity; <sup>5</sup>saturation humidity; <sup>6</sup>soil moisture at the field capacity; <sup>7</sup>soil moisture at the point of permanent wilt; <sup>8</sup>available water; <sup>9</sup>sum of bases; <sup>10</sup>cation exchange capacity; <sup>11</sup>organic carbon; <sup>12</sup>base saturation; <sup>13</sup>aluminium saturation; <sup>14</sup>percentage of sodium saturation. Source: elaborated by the author.

In the granulometric analysis, the clay was quantified by the pipette method, sand by wet sieving, and silt by the difference between the initial mass of the sample and the masses of clay and sand (GEE; BAUDER, 1986). The soil bulk density was determined by the beaker method (ALMEIDA *et al.*, 2017) and the particle density according to Blake and Hartge (1986). Soil porosity was obtained when the density of the soil and particles was known, according to formula 1:

$$\alpha = \left(1 - \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_p}\right),\tag{1}$$

Where:  $\alpha$  - porosity (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>),  $\rho_p$  and  $\rho_s$  - particle and soil densities (kg m<sup>-3</sup>), respectively.

For chemical characterization of the soil, the following analyzes were performed: pH, which was measured in H<sub>2</sub>O (1: 2.5) by potentiometry; potential acidity (H + Al), which was extracted with calcium acetate buffered at pH 7.0 and determined by titration; Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>, which were extracted with 1M KCl solution and determined by atomic absorption spectrometry; exchangeable aluminum (Al<sup>3+</sup>), was extracted with 1M KCl solution and determined by titration. Phosphorus (P), sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>) and potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) were extracted with Mehlich 1 solution, with P determined by colorimetry and K<sup>+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> by flame photometry (TEIXEIRA *et al.*, 2017).

Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by wet oxidation (YEOMANS; BREMNER, 1988). The cation exchange capacity (CEC), the sum of bases (SB), base saturation (V%), aluminium saturation (m%), and sodium saturation percentage (PST) were calculated following Teixeira *et al.* (2017).

# 2.2 Characterization of the hydrogel

The hydrogel used was a commercial product (Forth Gel<sup>®</sup>), characterized on the manufacturer's label as a copolymer of acrylamide and potassium acrylate. To refine the characterization of the product, elemental analysis, X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (FRX), particle size, and residual acrylamide of the gel was carried out before exposure to temperature and time (Table 2).

Elementary analysis of carbon (C), hydrogen (H) and nitrogen (N) was performed using a Carlo Erba EA 1108 microanalyzer; the C/N ratio was obtained by the ratio between C and N; the elemental composition of the acrylate was determined by X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (FRX) using X-ray fluorescence spectrometer, model ZSXMini II (Rigaku); the particle size fraction was determined using 24 mesh (0.710 mm), 35 mesh (0.425 mm) and 48 mesh (0.300 mm) sieves and residual acrylamide were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in a chromatograph model LC-20AD from Shimadzu, coupled to the diode array detector model SPD-M20A, at a wavelength of 197 nm.

Table 2 – Elementary analysis of carbon (%C), hydrogen (%H), nitrogen (% N), carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N) of the hydrogel; elementary chemical composition of the acrylate (%) with potassium (K) and sulfur (S) contents, granulometric distribution and  $RA_m$  of the commercial hydrogel before applying the treatments (new gel).

Elementary analysis (%)			Acrylate Elementary composition		
			(%)		
С	Н	Ν	C/N	K	S
39.7	6.70	15.0	2.65	99.2	0.8
Particle size fraction (%)			Residual acrylamide		
<24 mesh	24-35 mesh	35-48 mesh	<48 mesh	$(\operatorname{mg} \operatorname{g}^{-1})$	
12	37	15	36	0.5	0

Source: elaborated by the author.

Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and X-ray diffraction were also performed for the characterization of the hydrogel. Infrared absorption spectroscopy (FTIR) was performed on FT equipment IR-8500 (Shimadzu), operating in the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> range; X-ray diffraction was performed using an XPert Pro MPD diffractometer (Panalytical), with Cu-K $\alpha$  radiation, varying 2 $\theta$  from 5 to 70° (Figure 1).

Figure 1 – Infrared spectrum (a) and diffractogram (b) of the commercial acrylamide and acrylate hydrogel studied.



To determine the swelling curve, 30 mg of the hydrogel were weighed in a 30 mL filter crucible (N° 0 porosity) previously moistened. This set was completely submerged in the liquid medium (distilled water). The set (crucible + gel) was removed at intervals of time (2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240 minutes), the outer wall of the crucible was the dry and heavy system. The procedure was performed in triplicate. The hydrogel was screened

to obtain the particle size between 24 and 35 mesh that was used in this swelling study. To calculate the swelling, formula 2 was used:

$$S = \frac{Wt - W0}{W0}$$
(2)

W0 represents the mass (g) of the hydrogel dried at 65 °C and Wt is the mass (g) of the hydrogel expanded at time t. This resulted in the hydrogel swelling curve in distilled water (0.003 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) (Graph 1).



Graph 1 – Hydrogel swelling curve in distilled water.

Source: elaborated by the author.

### 2.3 Experimental design and treatments

The experimental design was entirely randomized, in split plot system  $(4 \times 4) \times 4$ , with two factors (temperature and time), each with 4 levels. The dose of hydrogel used was 0.1% (w w<sup>-1</sup>), determined experimentally so that there is no visible structural alteration in the soil confined to a 100 cm<sup>3</sup> cylinder after wetting and drying in an oven.

The treatments were as follows: I) temperatures (T1 = 30 °C; T2 = 45 °C; T3 = 65 °C and T4 = 105 °C); II) evaluation times (40, 70, 100 and 120 days). The treatments were evaluated with four replications, totalling 64 experimental units. Each experimental unit consisted of a stainless-steel cylinder with dimensions of 5 x 5 cm (100 cm<sup>3</sup>) filled with homogenized soil with hydrogel at a dose of 0.1% w w<sup>-1</sup>, sealed with tissue at the bottom.

#### 2.4 Experiment installation, conduction, and evaluations

The sealed stainless-steel cylinders of known mass (experimental units) were placed in plastic trays. Each experimental unit was filled with soil homogenized with the dry hydrogel and, later, they were moistened by capillarity. Each sample consisting of a stainless-steel cylinder filled with soil + hydrogel was saturated for 24 hours and, after saturation, showed an initial density of 1.15 g cm<sup>-3</sup>.

Subsequently, the samples were placed in an oven and subjected to treatments with temperatures (T1= 30 °C; T2= 45 °C; T3= 65 °C and T4= 105 °C). At the end of each evaluation period (40, 70, 100, and 120 days), the samples were analyzed for soil moisture at field capacity ( $\theta_{FC}$ ) and permanent wilting point ( $\theta_{WP}$ ), plant available water (AW), bulk density and porosity.

The field capacity ( $\theta_{FC}$ ) was determined in deformed samples, after equilibrium at a tension of 10 kPa, using the gravimetric method in a Haines funnel. Soil moisture at permanent wilting point ( $\theta_{WP}$ ) was determined in deformed samples, using a gravimetric method in a Richards extractor after equilibrium at a tension of 1500 kPa (KLUTE, 1986). Plant available water (AW) was calculated as the difference between  $\theta_{WP}$  and  $\theta_{WP}$ .

The samples were taken to an oven at 105 °C until constant mass was attained. Soil density was determined using formula 3:

$$Ds = \frac{Ms}{Vs}$$
(3)

Ds  $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})$  = Density of the soil; Ms (g)= Mass of dry soil; Vs  $(\text{cm}^{-3})$  = Total soil volume.

Soil porosity was obtained with soil and particle density, according to formula 1.

The homogeneity of variance and the normality of the residuals were tested before conducting the analysis of variance (Two-way factorial ANOVA), with level of significance of 99% (p <0.01). When the interaction between factors and/or each isolated factor was significant, linear regressions were performed. All statistical analyzes were performed using SAS 9.3 ("SAS 9.3 Software", 2011).

#### **3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

With the F test of analysis of variance (ANOVA), a significant interaction was found for all sources of variation: Field capacity, wilting point, available water, bulk density, and porosity (Table 2 - ANNEX A). With that, the factors were unfolded where the models were adjusted.

At 40 days, the relationship between  $\theta_{FC}$  and temperature is represented by a decreasing linear function (Graph 2a), so that there is a decrease in  $\theta_{FC}$  of 0.0004 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> for each 1 °C increase in temperature (Graph 2a). For 70 and 100 days, the model to which the experimental data fitted was quadratic; at 70 days a maximum point was found for  $\theta_{FC}$ , 0.170 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>, at 69 °C. At 100 days the maximum value of  $\theta_{FC}$  was 0.147 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> (Graph 2a) and at 130 days there was no adjustable mathematical model to the equation.

Graphic 2 – Field capacity ( $m^3 m^{-3}$ ) of a 0-0.2m layer of the Leptsol plus 0.1% ( $w w^{-1}$ ) of the hydrogel as a function of air temperatures (30, 45, 65 and 105 °C) (a) and time of exposure to temperature (40, 70, 100 and 130 days) (b). The continuous gray line indicates the field capacity of the soil without hydrogel.



Source: elaborated by the author.

The addition of the hydrogel increased the value of  $\theta_{FC}$  of the soil (0.140 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) by up to 28%, especially at 40 and 70 days at temperatures of up to 69 °C, reaching maximum values of 0.178 and 0.179 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>. This confirms that the hydrogel improves water storage in the soil (MANDAL *et al.*, 2015). However, there is a decline in  $\theta_{FC}$  with a rise in temperature >69 °C.

The increase in the  $\theta_{FC}$  of the soil caused by the addition of the hydrogel did not affect the free porosity of water (or aeration), which was around 30% in the condition of maximum  $\theta_{FC}$ . It is recognised that there is a restriction in the development of plants when the volume of pores with air in the soil is < 0.1 cm<sup>3</sup> of air per cm<sup>3</sup> of soil, that is, porosity free of water less than 10% (GRABLE; SIEMER, 1968).

The water retention efficiency of hydrophilic hydrogel applied to a sandy soil decreased by up to 60% when the temperature increased from 15 to 35 °C (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). In the present study, higher tolerance of the hydrogel to temperatures was observed, with a reduction of up to 15% in water retention in  $\theta_{FC}$  (in 10 kPa) with temperature increases from 30 to 105 °C. Minimal effects of temperature up to 40 °C have already been reported in hydrophilic agricultural hydrogels immersed in saline solutions (MOLLOY; SMITH; COWLING, 2000).

The term "polymeric network" refers to cross-linking, which has the function of preventing the dissolution of hydrophilic polymeric chains from the hydrogel to the aqueous phase (HENNINK; NOSTRUM, 2012) being N, N'-methylene- (bis) -acrylamide (BAA) the water-soluble cross-linking agent most used in the production of superabsorbent hydrogels (WU *et al.*, 2001). The water retention capacity is related to the degree of crosslinking of the hydrogel (DORKOOSH *et al.*, 2000) providing a different three-dimensional expansion and porous structure (AHMED, 2015).

At 30 °C, there was a minimum value of  $\theta_{FC}$  (0.140 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) at 105 days (Graph 2b). At 65 °C, a decreasing function is observed, with daily reductions of 0.0002 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> in  $\theta_{FC}$ . At 45 °C, there was no adjustment model to the equation and at 105 °C, there was no statistical differentiation between the treatments (Graph 2b). Another study shows a significant loss of water retention capacity in a hydrogel substrate after 150 days (SAVI *et al.*, 2014). In the present study, there was a loss of water-holding capacity in the soil with hydrogel after about 100 days.

Just as there was a change in the water retention efficiency at 100 days (greater reduction of  $\theta_{FC}$  - Graph 2a), at 100 days a change in retention efficiency at 1500 kPa was also observed (maximum point  $\theta_{WP}$  (0.08 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> - Graph 3a)) - at 91 °C. This reduction in  $\theta_{FC}$  and increase in  $\theta_{WP}$  implies a reduction in the water available to plants. This  $\theta_{WP}$  value is close to

the soil condition without adding the hydrogel (0.10 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> - Table 1), indicating a change in the hydrogel's retention capacity with the combination of higher values of the temperature x time.

Graphic 3 – Permanent wilting point  $(m^3 m^{-3})$  of a 0-0.2m layer of the Leptsol plus 0.1%  $(w w^{-1})$  of the hydrogel as a function of air temperatures (30, 45, 65 and 105 °C) (a) and times of exposure to temperatures (40, 70, 100 and 130 days) (b). Continuous gray line indicates the permanent wilting point of the soil without hydrogel



Source: elaborated by the author.

At 40 days, the lowest  $\theta_{WP}$  (0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) was observed at 92 °C (Graph 3a). This combination of time and temperature favored an increase in the range of water available to plants. At 70 days, the response was obtained in the form of a decreasing function, with a reduction of 0.0001 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> in  $\theta_{WP}$  per °C increased. At 130 days there was no statistical significance. At 30 and 45 °C, points of minimum  $\theta_{WP}$  (0.06 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) were observed at 86 days. For 65 and 105 °C, there was no adjustable model to the equation (Graph 3b).

When the samples were subjected to 1500 kPa, even under different conditions of temperature and exposure times, 82-90% of the water absorbed by the soil + hydrogel mixture was released, indicating that a large part of the water is not strongly retained, which would

make it unavailable to plants. The effect of adding a polyacrylamide (PAM) hydrogel to sandy substrates was evaluated in another study in which the authors found that at least 95% of the water retained in the hydrogel, at stresses below 1500 kPa, were available to plants (FONTENO; BILDERBACK, 1993).

It is interesting to note that the time taken for soil samples amended with the hydrogel to reach equilibrium at the tension of 1500 kPa was longer than the unamended control. An increase in the number of days to reach  $\theta_{WP}$  has been previously reported in cultivation systems amended with hydrogels (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008). The WP of sand without added hydrogel was achieved between 2 and 3 days, compared to 6-7 days for sand treated with hydrogel (amount of 1 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) and 9-10 days for sand treated with hydrogel in the amount of 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008; BAASIRI *et al.*, 1986).

Considering the range of temperatures and time periods evaluated, the addition of hydrogel to the soil causes the  $\theta_{WP}$  to shift below that of the soil without hydrogel (Figure 3). This effect, associated with the increase in soil moisture at  $\theta_{FC}$  (Figure 2) is an advantage, as it offers more AW to plants.

Hydrogels, when applied to the soil, can improve the water supply to plants due to the increase in the soil's capacity to store water (WOLTER *et al.*, 2002). In this study, at 70 days, the maximum AW value (Graph 4a) was 0.11 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> at 77 °C (higher than that observed for the unamended soil (0.04 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> - Table 1). The AW to plants (between 10 and 100 kPa) for all soil types without hydrogel was lower compared to samples with hydrogel (NARJARY *et al.*, 2012). Water retention in the soil, between 10 and 1500 kPa (range corresponding to AW for plants), increased with levels of polymers composed of sodium acrylate incorporated (VARENNES *et al.*, 1997).

In the current study, an increase of up to 3 times in AW was verified after addition of 0.1% w w<sup>-1</sup> of the commercial hydrogel to the sandy-loam soil evaluated, similar to that found by Varennes *et al.* (1997) by adding 0.2% (w w<sup>-1</sup>) of hydrogel to a sandy soil. The AW content increased 2.2 and 3.2 times in a loamy and sandy soil, respectively, with the application of 8 g of hydrogel per kg of soil (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008). A hydrogel dose of 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the humidity by 40% in a loam-clay-sandy soil, compared to an unamended treatment, and also increased the AW by 125% (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008). Graphic 4 – Available water ( $m^3 m^{-3}$ ) of a 0-0.2m layer of the Leptsol plus 0.1% ( $w w^{-1}$ ) of the hydrogel as a function of air temperatures (30, 45, 65 and 105 °C) (a) and times of exposure to temperatures (40, 70, 100 and 130 days) (b). The continuous gray line indicates the water available from the soil without hydrogel.



Source: elaborated by the author.

At 100 days, a decreasing function was observed in the AW, with a reduction of 0.0002 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> per 1 °C increment (Graph 4a). At 40 and 130 days and 45 °C and 105 °C there was no adjustment model; at 30 °C and 65 °C, points with minimum values of available water (0.08 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) were observed at 117 and 102 days, respectively (Graph 4b). Even under increasing conditions of temperature and time, the soil with hydrogel showed greater AW for longer. A study with the application of acrylamide polymer in the soil in which the species *Agrostis stolonifera* was cultivated, there was a higher AW value for a longer time, reducing the frequency of irrigation (AGABA *et al.*, 2011). The application of hydrogels can result in a significant reduction in the frequency of irrigation required, especially for sandy soils, being an important issue in arid and semi-arid regions of the world to improve water management in these soils (KOUPAI; ESLAMIAN; KAZEMI, 2008).

The AW was higher than that initially observed in the unamended soil even at temperatures above 60 °C, and a gradual release of part of the AW could be expected with

changes in the soil temperature. The increase in AW in response to the hydrogel is explained by the addition of hydrophilic functional groups to the soil. Therefore, the greater capacity of the soil to retain water with hydrogel was attributed to its chemical structure containing the hydrophilic functional group's acrylamide and potassium acrylate, capable of producing more hydrogen bridges with water (ABEDI KOUPAI; SOHRAB; SWARBRICK, 2008; MARANDI; REZA, 2008).

Considering an area of 1 ha and a homogeneous soil layer of 0.2 m, the water storage in the soil without hydrogel is 80 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>. In the condition of maximum water storage with the incorporated hydrogel, the soil water storage was 220 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>, representing an increase of 140 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>. These results show that the tested hydrogel has a good potential to contribute to water management in soils in arid and semi-arid regions and are a strategy for increasing water use efficiency and plant production in drylands.

Concerning bulk density, at 40- and 70-days increasing equations were found, with increments of 0.0009 and 0.0016 g cm<sup>-3</sup> in density, respectively, by a unitary increase in temperature (°C). For 100 and 130 days, points of maximum soil density (1.42 and 1.32 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) were observed at 97 and 64 °C, respectively (Graph 5a).

With the addition of the studied hydrogel, the density of the soil increased significantly by 12% (considering conditions of maximum time and temperature). However, even in these conditions, the density was lower than the unamended soil (1.49 g cm<sup>-3</sup> - Table 1). The density of the soil was reduced at all temperatures studied (Graph 5a). The soil density decreases with the application of superabsorbent hydrogel (BAASIRI *et al.*, 1986; BAI *et al.*, 2010; HOU *et al.*, 2018) because the product favors the formation of macropores in the soil (HOU *et al.*, 2018).

There was an increase in density with the increase in temperature, indicating that temperatures change the efficiency of the hydrogel in improving the physical properties of the soil. Hydrogels can absorb and lose water in a reversible way, being related to intrinsic factors of the external environment, such as temperature, which in turn can contribute to the collapse or phase change (AHMED, 2015). With the collapse of the hydrogel, there is a rearrangement of particles or aggregates, so that spaces previously occupied by hydrated hydrogel suffer volume reduction and, therefore, the density of the soil is increased. At a critical temperature, the elasticity reaches zero and the hydrogel becomes infinitely compressible (MOLLOY; SMITH; COWLING, 2000). At a constant temperature of 37 °C, it has been reported that a PAM hydrogel can change its physical properties, becoming softened when wet and brittle when dry (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996a).

Graphic 5 – Density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>) (a) and soil porosity (%) (b) of a 0-0.2m layer of the Leptsol plus 0.1% (w w<sup>-1</sup>) of the hydrogel as a function of air temperatures (30, 45, 65 and 105 °C). The continuous gray line indicates the bulk density and porosity from the soil without hydrogel.



Source: elaborated by the author.

Regarding soil porosity, at 40 and 70 days, decreasing functions in the equations were observed, so that for each 1 °C increase in temperature, a decrease in porosity of 0.0339 and 0.0591 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> occurs, respectively (Graph 5b). For 100 and 130 days, there are minimum values of soil porosity (46 and 49%) at temperatures of 96 and 74 °C, respectively. In the studied conditions of temperatures and time period, the porosity of the soil increased as compared with the unamended soil (PT = 44% - Table 1).

In the semi-arid region of China, it was observed that the density of the soil decreased with the addition of a potassium polyacrylate hydrogel, improving the total porosity of the soil (HOU *et al.*, 2018). This improvement, as already discussed, was attributed to the fact that the product favors the formation of macropores in the soil (HOU *et al.*, 2018). The wetting and drying cycles promote loosening of the soil structure and increased aeration because during the expansion of the hydrogel there is a detachment of the soil mass and an increase in its total porosity (PALUSZEK, 2011). Due to the considerable reduction in the volume of the hydrogel as the water is released to the plant, the hydrogel allows the appearance

of free pore volume, providing more space for the infiltration of air and water, movement of gases and root growth (MILANI *et al.*, 2017).

The soil porosity decreased with increasing temperature, with a decrease of up to 10% when the temperature is raised from 30 to 105 °C. For all temperatures studied, in the 40day time period, greater soil porosity was found, a condition in which less time for the hydrogel application has elapsed and the polymer still has its functionality little changed by the gradual degradation provided by the action of time. There is evidence that the degradation of PAM hydrogels occurs as a result of chemical, photochemical and mechanical processes and due to the large size of the molecule, and that abiotic processes break the molecule into progressively smaller units over time (ENTRY; SOJKA; HICKS, 2008).

In all the evaluated treatments, the density and porosity of the soil were improved in comparison to unamended soil (Graph 5), which constitutes an advantage in the use of the hydrogel as a soil conditioner. Despite the negative effects of abiotic factors on the efficiency of the hydrogel, the results confirm that the presence of the hydrogel reduces the density and increases the porosity of the soil even under these conditions, which causes better oxygenation to the roots of the plants (ULLAH *et al.*, 2015).

After adding hydrogel to the soil, even under thermal stress, total porosity and  $\theta_{FC}$  increased, while the permanent wilting point decreased, providing improvement in soil water storage. In another study carried out in a semi-arid region, it was found that the application of hydrogel improves soil properties, increases soil water retention capacity, irrigation efficiency, crop growth, and productivity (DAR *et al.*, 2017). The hydrogel was used to increase the water reservoir close to the plant's root system, where it increased the  $\theta_{FC}$  of different soils and increased the AW to the plants and the period of their availability (MONTESANO *et al.*, 2015).

## **4 CONCLUSIONS**

The hypothesis is confirmed that even with the interaction of abiotic factors, the hydrogel provides beneficial effects at all temperatures and exposure times evaluated, improving the water storage capacity, density, and porosity of the soil. Thus, the tested hydrogel has good potential to contribute to water management in soils in arid and semi-arid regions.

The addition of the hydrogel increased the value of  $\theta_{FC}$  of the soil (0.140 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) by up to 28%, especially at 40 and 70 days at temperatures of up to 69 °C. However, the increase in the  $\theta_{FC}$  of the soil caused by the addition of the hydrogel did not affect the free porosity of water (or aeration), which was around 30% in the condition of maximum  $\theta_{FC}$ . Was observed a reduction of up to 15% in water retention in  $\theta_{FC}$  (10 kPa) with temperature increases from 30 to 105 °C.

When the soil + hydrogel were subjected to 1500 kPa, even under different conditions of temperature and exposure times, 82-90% of the water absorbed by the soil + hydrogel mixture was released, indicating that a large part of the water is not strongly retained, which would make it unavailable to plants. Considering the range of temperatures and time periods evaluated, the addition of hydrogel to the soil causes the  $\theta_{WP}$  to shift below that of the soil without hydrogel. This effect, associated with the increase in soil moisture at  $\theta_{FC}$  is an advantage, as it offers more AW to plants.

In the current study, an increase of up to 3 times in AW was verified after addition of 0.1% w w<sup>-1</sup> of the commercial hydrogel to the sandy-loam soil evaluated. Considering a condition of maximum water storage with the incorporated hydrogel, the soil water storage had an increase of 140 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>. These results show that the tested hydrogel has a good potential to contribute to water management in soils in arid and semi-arid regions and are a strategy for increasing water use efficiency and plant production in drylands.

Temperatures in arid and semi-arid environments and time lead to a progressive loss of hydrogel effectiveness. Thus, there is a potential benefit for crops with a short growth cycle. Future research should be based on improving the characteristics of hydrogels and their effects over long periods and in adverse conditions typical of arid and semiarid environments.

The density and porosity of the soil were improved in comparison to unamended soil, which constitutes an advantage in the use of the hydrogel as a soil conditioner. Despite the negative effects of abiotic factors on the efficiency of the hydrogel, the results confirm that the presence of the hydrogel reduces the density and increases the porosity of the soil even under these conditions, which causes better oxygenation to the roots of the plants.

#### REFERENCES

ABEDI KOUPAI, J.; SOHRAB, F.; SWARBRICK, G. Evaluation of Hydrogel Application on Soil Water Retention Characteristics. **Journal of Plant Nutrition**, *[sl.]*, v. 31, p. 37–41, 2008.

ABOBATTA, W. Impact of hydrogel polymer in agricultural sector. Advances in Agriculture and Environmental Science, [sl.], v. 1, n. 2, p. 59–64, 2018.

AGABA, H. *et al.* Hydrogel amendment to sandy soil reduces irrigation frequency and improves the biomass of *Agrostis stolonifera*. **Agricultural Sciences**, *[sl.]*, v. 02, n. 04, p. 544–550, 2011.

AHMED, E. M. Hydrogel: Preparation, characterization, and applications: A review. Journal of Advanced Research, [sl.], v. 6, n. 2, p. 105–121, 2015.

ALMEIDA, B. G. *et al.* Densidade do solo. In: **Manual de Métodos de Análise de Solo**. 3. ed. Brasília, DF: Embrapa Solos, 2017. p. 573.

ANDRY, H. *et al.* Water retention, hydraulic conductivity of hydrophilic polymers in sandy soil as affected by temperature and water quality. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 373, n. 1–2, p. 177–183, 2009.

BAASIRI, M. *et al.* Soil application of a hydrophilic conditioner in relation to moisture, irrigation frequency and crop growth. **Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis**, *[sl.]*, v. 17, n. 6, p. 573–589, 1986.

BAI, W. *et al*. Effects of super-absorbent polymers on the physical and chemical properties of soil following different wetting and drying cycles. **Soil Use and Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 26, p. 253–260, 2010.

BAKASS, M.; MOKHLISSE, A.; LALLEMANT, M. Absorption and desorption of liquid water by a superabsorbent polymer: effect of polymer in the drying of the soil and the quality of certain plants. **Journal of Applied Polymer Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 83, p. 234–243, 2002.

CORREIA, R. C. *et al.* A região semiárida brasileira. In: VOLTOLINI, T. **Produção de Caprinos e Ovinos no Semiárido**. Petrolina: Embrapa Semiárido, 2011. p. 21–28. Available in: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/54762/1/01-A-regiao-semiaridabrasileira.pdf-18-12-2011.pdf. Acess in: 23 jun. 2019.

DAR, S. B. *et al.* Hydrogel: to enhance crop productivity per unit available water under moisture stress agriculture. **Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology and Life Sciences**, *[sl.]*, v. 6, n. 10, p. 129–135, 2017.

DORKOOSH, F. A. *et al.* Preparation and NMR characterization of superporous hydrogels (SPH) and SPH composites. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 41, n. 23, p. 8213–8220, 2000.

ENTRY, J. A.; SOJKA, R. E.; HICKS, B. J. Carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios can estimate anionic polyacrylamide degradation in soil. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 145, n. 1–2, p. 8–16, 2008.

FENG, S.; FU, Q. Expansion of global drylands under a warming climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, Göttingen, v. 13, n. 19, p. 10081–10094, 2013.

FONTENO, W. C.; BILDERBACK, T. E. Impact of Hydrogel on Physical Properties of Coarse-structured Horticultural Substrates. Journal of the American Society for
Horticultural Science, [sl.], v. 118, n. 2, p. 217–222, 1993.

GAO, Z. *et al.* Determination of soil temperature in an arid region. Journal of Arid Environments, [*sl.*], v. 71, p. 157–168, 2007.

GRABLE, A. R.; SIEMER, E. G. Effects of bulk density, aggregate size, and soil water suction on oxygen diffusion, redox potentials, and elongation of corn roots. **Soil Science of America Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 32, p. 180–186, 1968.

HENNINK, W. E.; NOSTRUM, C. F. VAN. Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, [sl.], v. 64, p. 223–236, 2012.

HOOVER, D. L. *et al.* Traversing the wasteland: a framework for assessing ecological threats to drylands. **BioScience**, Washington, v. 70, n. 1, p. 35–47, 2020.

HOU, X. *et al.* Superabsorbent polymers influence soil physical properties and increase potato tuber yield in a dry-farming region. **Journal of Soils and Sediments**, *[sl.]*, v. 18, p. 816–826, 2018.

KLUTE, A. Water retention: laboratory methods. In: **Methods of soil analysis**. 2. ed. Madison: Soil Science Society of America, 1986. p. 635–662.

KOUPAI, J. A.; ESLAMIAN, S. S.; KAZEMI, J. A. Enhancing the available water content in unsaturated soil zone using hydrogel, to improve plant growth indices. **Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology**, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 1, p. 67–75, 2008.

MANDAL, U. *et al.* Evaluating hydrogel application on soil water availability and crop productivity in semiarid tropical red soil. **Indian Journal of Dryland Agricultural Research and Development**, *[sl.]*, v. 30, n. 2, p. 1–10, 2015.

MARANDI, G. B.; REZA, G. Effect of hydrophobic monomer on the synthesis and swelling behaviour of a collagen- graft -poly [(acrylic acid)-co-(sodium acrylate)] hydrogel. **Polymer international**, *[sl.]*, v. 58, p. 227–235, 2008.

MILANI, P. *et al.* Polymers and its applications in agriculture. **Polímeros**, São Carlos, v. 27, n. 3, p. 256–266, 2017.

MOHAMMADINEZHAD, S.; AHMADVAND, M. Modeling the internal processes of farmers' water conflicts in arid and semi-arid regions: Extending the theory of planned behavior. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 580, p. 124241, 2020.

MOLLOY, P. J.; SMITH, M. J.; COWLING, M. J. The effects of salinity and temperature on the behaviour of polyacrylamide gels. **Materials and Design**, *[sl.]*, v. 21, n. 3, p. 169–174, 2000.

MONTESANO, F. F. *et al.* Biodegradable superabsorbent hydrogel increases water retention properties of growing media and plant growth. Agriculture and Agricultural Science **Procedia**, Amsterdam, v. 4, p. 451–458, 2015.

NARJARY, B. *et al.* Water availability in different soils in relation to hydrogel application. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 187–188, p. 94–101, 2012.

PALUSZEK, J. Physical quality of eroded soil amended with gel-forming polymer. **International agrophysics**, *[sl.]*, v. 25, p. 375–382, 2011.

REYES, R. *et al.* Effect of substrate depth and roof layers on green roof temperature and water requirements in a semi-arid climate. **Ecological Engineering**, *[sl.]*, v. 97, p. 624–632,

2016.

SANTOS, J. C. N. *et al.* Effect of dry spells and soil cracking on runoff generation in a semiarid micro watershed under land use change. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 541, p. 1057–1066, 2016.

SAS 9.3 Software. SAS Institute Inc Cary, NC, , 2011.

SAVI, T. *et al*. Green roofs for a drier world: Effects of hydrogel amendment on substrate and plant water status. **Science of the Total Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 490, p. 467–476, 2014.

SCHARENBROCH, B. C.; BOCKHEIM, J. G. Impacts of forest gaps on soil properties and processes in old growth northern hardwood-hemlock forests. **Plant and Soil**, Dordrecht, v. 294, n. 1–2, p. 219–233, 2007.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental degradation of polyacrylamides. I. Effects of artificial environmental conditions: Temperature, light, and pH. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 35, p. 121–135, 1996.

SOUTO, P. C. *et al.* Decomposição de estercos dispostos em diferentes profundidades em area degradada no semi-árido da paraíba. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 29, n. 1, p. 125–130, 2005.

TEIXEIRA, P. C. *et al.* Manual de métodos de análise de solo. 3. ed. rev ed. Brasília, DF: Embrapa Solos, 2017.

THOMBARE, N. *et al.* Design and development of guar gum based novel, superabsorbent and moisture retaining hydrogels for agricultural applications. **Carbohydrate Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 185, p. 169–178, 2018.

ULLAH, F. *et al.* Classification , processing and application of hydrogels: A review. **Materials Science and Engineering C**, *[sl.]*, v. 57, p. 414–433, 2015.

VARENNES, A. *et al.* Effects of two Na polyacrylate polymers on the hydrophysical and chemical properties of a sandy soil, and on plant growth and water economy. **Revista de Ciências Agrárias**, Lisbon, v. 20, n. 4, 1997.

WOLTER, M. *et al.* Biological degradability of syntetic superabsorbent soil conditioners. Landbauforschung Volkenrode, [*sl.*], v. 52, n. 1, p. 43–52, 2002.

WU, J. *et al.* Influence of the COOH and COONa groups and crosslink density of poly(acrylic acid)/montmorillonite superabsorbent composite on water absorbency. **Polymer International**, *[sl.]*, v. 50, p. 1050–1053, 2001.

WU, Y. *et al.* Response of soil water, temperature, and maize (Zea may L.) production to different plastic film mulching patterns in semi-arid areas of northwest China. **Soil and Tillage Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 166, p. 113–121, 2017.

XIAO, B. *et al.* Moss-dominated biological soil crusts significantly influence soil moisture and temperature regimes in semiarid ecosystems. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 263, p. 35–46, 2016.

YANG, W. *et al.* Foliar antitranspirant and soil superabsorbent hydrogel affect photosynthetic gas exchange and water use efficiency of maize grown under low rainfall conditions. **Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture**, *[sl.]*, v. 99, p. 350–359, 2018.

YEOMANS, J. C.; BREMNER, J. M. A rapid and precise method for routine determination

of organic carbon in soil. **Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis**, *[sl.]*, v. 19, p. 1467–1476, 1988.

ZAIN, G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel based on sulfonated-starch for improving water and saline absorbency. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 115, p. 61–68, 2018.

ZHAO, Y. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogels from poly (aspartic acid) with salt-, temperatureand pH-responsiveness properties. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 46, p. 5368–5376, 2005.

# 5 POTENTIAL OF SUPERABSORBENT HYDROGELS TO BE USED IN AGRICULTURE UNDER ABIOTIC STRESSES

#### ABSTRACT

Hydrogels are a promising management option to increase the efficiency of water use in agriculture in arid and semi-arid regions. However, abiotic factors may affect hydrogel efficacy. This study evaluated the effect of abiotic stress on the swelling and rate of residual acrylamide degradation in hydrogels The response of three hydrogels to the abiotic stresses of temperature and salinity were quantified. The experimental design was completely randomized in a 3x4x2 scheme with four replications. The treatments were three hydrogels (A, B and C), four temperatures (20, 30, 40 and 65 °C) and two salinities (0.003 and 3.0 dS/m). At the end of 30 days, the swelling degree and the residual acrylamide concentration of the hydrogels were measured. Data were analyzed with univariate and multivariate statistics. The swelling order of hydrogels under low salinity was A>C>B; at high salinity was B>A>C. All hydrogels presented significant swelling reduction at high salinity, with swelling reductions in A and C of 97% and 85%, respectively, while B presented a swelling reduction of 37% at 20 °C and greater than 89% at higher temperatures. Hydrogel B achieved good swelling under saline conditions, but only at 20 °C. Thus, the temperature tolerance of this hydrogel should be improved so it can be used to improve water use efficiency in regions with high temperatures and salinity levels. Residual acrylamide levels of hydrogels decreased by 95% over 30 days, to levels well below the maximum permissible levels for agricultural use.

Keywords: Super absorbent hydrogels. Polyacrylamide. Water use efficiency.

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

Semi-arid and arid areas comprise 41% of the global land area and provide food to more than 38% of the global population (REYNOLDS *et al.*, 2007). Careful management of soil and water resources in these regions is essential in order to feed growing populations (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018).

Arid and semi-arid regions around the world regularly face increasing problems of water scarcity for domestic, industrial and agricultural use. Rainfed agriculture is the predominant cropping system in these areas, but aridity and climate uncertainty are the main challenges facing farmers (AMMAR *et al.*, 2016). Water scarcity has compromised agricultural productivity in many developing countries, leading to a growing interest in developing practical and affordable solutions (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018). Due to their high-water absorption capacity, superabsorbent hydrogels are being extensively studied as soil conditioners to increase water use efficiency in agriculture (CHEN *et al.*, 2017; COELLO *et al.*, 2018; PARADELO; BASANTA; BARRAL, 2019; THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018; YANG *et al.*, 2018; ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

Hydrogels are crosslinked hydrophilic polymers that can absorb large amounts (>100x their mass) of water (GUILHERME *et al.*, 2015). The characteristics of the external solution, such as charge valency and mineral salts concentration (e.g. Na<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>), influence the expansion of hydrogels (RAJU; RAJU; MOHAN, 2003). Water absorption efficiency of hydrogels decreases with increasing solution electrical conductivity (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). Salinity impairs water absorption because hydrophilic groups of hydrogels bind to salts, blocking water ingress. Salts also suppress the electrostatic interactions between the hydrogel and water molecules (XIONG *et al.*, 2018; ZHAO *et al.*, 2019).

Andry *et al.*, (2009) also observed that hydrophilic polymers can exhibit thermal sensitivity. When hydrogels are applied to the soil, increasing temperature increases the adsorption of anionic hydrogels to clays due to the reduction of hydrogen bonds between the polymer and water molecules which increases polymer penetration in the internal clay structure (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Thus, the efficiency of hydrogels is affected by the salinity of the soil and/or irrigation water applied as well as temperature. Both these abiotic stresses characterise arid and semiarid regions.

Anionic polyacrylamide (PAM) is the most commonly used hydrogel as a soil conditioner and, although it is an inert polymer, may contain residual acrylamide monomer (RA<sub>m</sub>) as a result of incomplete polymerization (XIONG *et al.*, 2018). Acrylamide has been

studied for agricultural use because of its potential toxic effects (HOLLIMAN *et al.*, 2005). Residual acrylamide concentrations in commercial PAM products are typically <500 mg/kg as regulated by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the National Resources Conservation Services (NRCS) (XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

Residual acrylamide although soluble and mobile in the soil is susceptible to biodegradation in soil and surface waters, which significantly reduces the risks of accumulation in the environment (NEELY; BRANSON; BLAU, 1974; TEPE; ÇEBI, 2017). Residual acrylamide associated with PAMs is subject to rapid biological degradation in soils with a half-life of 18-45 hrs (BARVENIK, 1994).

In arid and semiarid regions superabsorbent hydrogels are increasingly seen as a viable option to significantly increase water retention in soils and increase plant available water. However, as salinity and high temperatures compromise water absorption by hydrogels, it is necessary to develop polymers tolerant of these conditions. Further, there is a paucity of data on the effect of salinity and temperatures commonly associated with arid and semiarid regions on the efficacy of superabsorbent polymers.

The objective of this study was to evaluate the water absorption potential and RA<sub>m</sub> degradation rate of three hydrogels subjected to thermal and saline stress. The hypotheses tested were: i) anionic hydrogels can contribute to water absorption efficiency under abiotic conditions of arid and semiarid regions; ii) despite the adverse effects of temperature and salinity on the efficiency of hydrogels, a polymer that provides improvements in the soil of arid and semi-arid regions can be identified; iii) the rate of RA<sub>m</sub> degradation is influenced by the abiotic stresses of high temperatures and/or salinity and RA<sub>m</sub> levels do not pose an environmental risk.

## **2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

This laboratory experiment was conducted at Cranfield University (UK). The experimental design was completely randomized in a 3x4x2 scheme in which the treatment factors were: hydrogel type (A, B and C), air temperature (20, 30, 40 and 65 °C) and salinity level of hydration solution (low - deionized water with electrical conductivity (EC) = 0.003 dS/m, and high - saline solution with EC = 3.0 dS/m). The treatments were replicated in quadruplicate, totalling 96 experimental units. Each experimental unit consisted of a PVC pipe (0.06m internal diameter x 0.1m long) filled with 2.0g of de-hydrated hydrogel to which the respective hydration solution was applied.

To determine the amount of hydration solution to be applied, swelling tests were performed using deionized and saline water, to achieve maximum swelling and all swelling solution not absorbed by the hydrogel was drained (~ 2 hours). Subsequently, the following volumes were used: hydrogel A - 600 ml of deionized water and 300 ml of saline solution; hydrogel B - 400 ml of deionized water and 400 ml of saline solution; hydrogel C 600 ml of deionized water and 300 ml of saline solution.

The three hydrogels tested were cross-linked acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymers (Figure 1).

Figure 1. a. Representation of copolymer swollen in water. The lattice represents the crosslinking and the grey circles the hydrogel cross-linking points. The blue circles represent the water molecules inside the hydrogel. b. Structural representation of acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer. c. description of the polymers used in this study.



Source: elaborated by the author.

All the hydrogels contain initial residual acrylamide levels well below the allowable values (<500 mg/kg) set by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the U.S. National Resources Conservation Services (NRCS) (XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

The treatment for high salinity was established based on the classification of saline waters, in which Class 3 presents an EC in the range of 1.5 to 3.0 dS/m (FRENKEL, 1984). In the Northeast of Brazil, the waters used for irrigation have, in most cases, a salt concentration ranging from 1 to 30 mmol<sub>c</sub>/L, corresponding to an EC ranging from 0.1 to 3.0 dS/m (GHEYI; QUEIROZ; MEDEIROS, 1997).

The high salinity hydration solution was prepared with sodium chloride (NaCl), calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) and magnesium chloride (MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O) dissolved in a 7:2:1 ratio, assuming the ratio between the EC of the irrigation water (ECW) and its concentration [CS (mmolc/L) = EC x 10], as proposed by (RHOADES *et al.*, 1989); where: Cs = salt concentration; EC = pre-established electrical conductivity.

In semi-arid regions of China, soil temperature values of about 25 °C were recorded between 5 and 25 cm depth (WU *et al.*, 2017; XIAO *et al.*, 2016); 38.4 °C in summer (REYES *et al.*, 2016) and 41 °C in agroforestry systems in Brazilian semiarid regions (MARIN *et al.*, 2006a), reaching up to 60 °C (CORREIA *et al.*, 2012). The minimum treatment temperature of 20 °C was established as a laboratory control in order to be able to critically evaluate hydrogel performance at higher temperatures. The treatments with temperatures of 30, 40 and 65 °C were obtained by placing the experimental units in Weiss Technik growth chambers. After 30 days of exposure to the temperature treatments, the samples were weighed and oven-dried at 65 °C until a constant mass was attained. Then, the experimental units were re-hydrated with the respective hydration solutions.

The final swelling of the hydrogels (g/g) was calculated as follows:

$$S = \frac{Wt - W0}{W0}$$
(2)

W0 represents the mass (g) of the hydrogel dried at 65 °C and Wt is the mass (g) of hydrogel swollen in the time t.

The dimensionless swelling factor of the hydrogels was obtained by the following calculation:

$$\alpha = \frac{W(Salt)}{W(Water)}$$
(3)

which is defined as the ratio between the absorption capacity of saline solution and the absorption in a salt-free solution.

A summary of the experimental methodology is presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Schematic summary of the experimental method showing: swelling sequence, temperatures applied, drying protocol, rehydration and residual acrylamide analysis.



Source: elaborated by the author.

Residual acrylamide was determined by submerging 100 mg of the dry hydrogels (at the end of the experiment) in deionized water for 4 hours. The resulting immersion solution was filtered using a 0.22  $\mu$ m pore 13 mm diameter cellulose ester GS membrane (Millipore) and injected into a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system. A Shimadzu model LC-20AD chromatograph coupled to a SPD-M20A diode array detector at a wavelength of 197 nm was used. For separation of the acrylamide monomer, a 250 mm long 4.6 mm internal diameter Kinetex 5u C18 100 A column was used in a CTO-20A model thermostated oven. The elution solvent (mobile phase) was 25:75 acetonitrile solution and ultrapure water, with a flow rate of 1.25 mL/min and elution time of 5 minutes. The volume used for sample injection was 50  $\mu$ L.

The  $RA_m$  was quantified from the area of its respective chromatographic peak, with an elution time of 2.2 min, using a calibration curve obtained by diluting 10 ppm solution of the  $RA_m$  in deionized water. Monomer contents were expressed in mg/g (BEZERRA, 2015).

The %  $RA_m$ , which corresponds to % that remained in the hydrogels immersion solution after the 30 day treatment period, was calculated as follows:

% residual acrylamide= 
$$\left(\frac{\text{final residual acrylamide}}{\text{initial residual acrylamide}}\right)$$
. 100 (4)

In addition, to access RA<sub>m</sub> degradation the following calculation was adopted:

residual acrylamide degradation (%)=
$$\left(\frac{\text{Initial residual acrylamide-final residual acrylamide}}{\text{Initial residual acrylamide}}\right).100$$
 (5)

Experiment treatments consist of all combinations of three main factors: hydrogel acrylamide and potassium acrylate polymers (hydrogels A, B, C), four air temperatures (20, 30, 40, 65 °C) and two ECs of the swelling solution (0.003 and 3 dS/m). The homogeneity of variance and residual normality of each variable were tested for each parameter before conducting the Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Data were transformed using Box-Cox techniques (BOX; COX, 1964), outliers were removed when appropriate before submitting data for ANOVA. When the interaction between factors and/or each isolated factor was significant, the means were compared by the Duncan test ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) ("SAS 9.3 Software", 2011). The performance of the hydrogels under the experimental temperatures and EC of the swelling solution was evaluated using the final swelling, final RA<sub>m</sub>, residual acrylamide degradation and dimensionless swelling factor.

#### **3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

The three hydrogels studied are considered superabsorbent since they absorbed > 100 times their dry mass of water (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). However, there are records in the literature of hydrogels that absorb more than 1000 times their dry mass in water (GUILHERME *et al.*, 2015).

In the absence of salts, at a temperature of 20°C, the degree of swelling was in the order hydrogel A> C> B, whereas in the presence of salts, at 20 °C, the order was hydrogel B> A> C (Table 2).

Table 2 – Comparison test of means for final swelling degree (g/g) of three acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer hydrogels at four temperatures and two levels of electrical conductivity of the hydration solution.

Treatment		ent	Mean ± SE	Duncan Grouping
Hydrogel	°C	dS(m)	(g/g)	
Α	30	0.003	431±12.1	a
А	20	0.003	366±5.68	b
С	40	0.003	$324 \pm 6.53$	bc
С	20	0.003	313±2.60	cd
С	30	0.003	286±2.11	cde
С	65	0.003	$284 \pm 2.83$	cde
А	40	0.003	273±6.42	de
А	65	0.003	262±5.83	e
В	30	0.003	212±3.37	f
В	20	0.003	209±5.63	f
В	40	0.003	195±4.86	f
В	65	0.003	192±1.41	f
В	20	3	134±1.85	g
А	20	3	62.0±0.42	h
С	20	3	40.8±0.67	i
С	40	3	31.8±1.54	j
С	65	3	29.9±0.16	j
С	65	3	24.8±0.46	k
В	65	3	23.2±0.61	k
В	40	3	21.2±0.63	k
С	30	3	21.0±1.58	k
В	30	3	16.6±0.31	1
А	40	3	16.2±0.34	1
А	30	3	13.3±0.32	m

Means with the same letter are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Duncan test Variable with transformation  $x^{0.1}$ ; SE -standard error.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The initial swelling order hydrogel A>C> B in the absence of salts could be explained by the degree of crosslinking of the studied hydrogels which are assigned as: low for

A and C and high for B. The degree of crosslinking is an important factor controlling the swelling of hydrogels, determining the mechanical strength, swelling ratio and other properties of PAM hydrogels, so that even small changes in crosslinking alter swelling characteristics (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018).

More crosslinked hydrogels show greater rigidity in the polymeric mesh (Hydrogel B), which causes less swelling (MOLLOY; SMITH; COWLING, 2000). This is because as the crosslinking rate increases, the number of crosslinks per unit volume increases, thus causing a decrease in the free space available between crosslinks to accommodate water molecules (BAJPAI; SINGH, 2006).

The swelling degree of the three hydrogels decreased upon exposure to the high salinity hydration solution (EC = 3 dS/m) (Tables 2 and 3). Maximum swelling (431 g water/g hydrogel) was observed for hydrogel A at 30 °C exposed to low salinity deionized water. The second-largest swelling (366 g/g) was also observed for hydrogel A in deionized water but at a temperature of 20 °C (Table 2). However, when hydrogel A, at 30 °C, was subjected to the saline solution, it presented the lowest swelling value (13.3 g/g), representing a 97% reduction in swelling in response to salinity (Tables 2 and 3).

Table 3 – Comparison test of means for final swelling  $(g/g) \pm$  standard error of three copolymeric acrylamide and potassium acrylate hydrogels submitted to four temperatures and two levels of electrical conductivity (dS/m) of the hydration solution.

	Deionized water	Saline solution	Deionized water	Saline solution	
Hvdrogel	20°	C Solution	<u>30°</u>	<sup>2</sup> C	
A	366±5.68a	61.9±0.42b	431±12.13a	13.3±0.32b	
В	209±5.63a	134±1.85b	212±3.37a	16.6±0.31b	
С	313±2.60a	40.8±0.67b	286±2.11a	21.2±0.63b	
Hydrogel	40°	C	65°C		
А	273±6.42a	13.3±0.32b	262±5.83a	24.8±0.46b	
В	195±4.86a	16.6±0.31b	192±1.41a	23.2±0.61b	
С	323±6.53a	21.2±0.63b	284±2.83a	29.9±0.16b	

Values followed by the same lower case letters in the lines that compare the same hydrogel at the same temperature between deionized water and saline are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Duncan test. Source: elaborated by the author.

In the saline hydration solution the swelling of the three studied hydrogels was significantly reduced (Tables 2 and 3), confirming water absorption efficiency of hydrophilic hydrogels decreases with increasing salts and EC of the hydration solution (ANDRY *et al.*, 2009). The reduction in swelling under saline conditions is attributed to a "charge-screening effect" of additional cations, causing non-perfect anionic electrostatic repulsion (KWON; BAE; SUNG WAN KIM, 1991; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014; SADEGHI; GHASEMI;

YARAHMADI, 2011). Therefore, decreasing osmotic pressure results in decreased concentration of mobile ions between the hydrogel and aqueous phases resulting in a decrease in water molecule absorption by the PAM co-polymers. Also, in the case of multivalent cation saline solutions such as that used in the present study, ionic crosslinking of PAM co-polymer particles causes a decrease in swelling capacity (FLORY, 1953; HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014).

Decreased swelling depends on the type and concentration of salts present in the solution (HEIDARI *et al.*, 2018; MIRDARIKVANDE *et al.*, 2014). Divalent elements, such as those found in the saline hydration solution of the present study ( $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ ), may decrease the swelling of hydrogels. This is due to the ability of ions to bind with the carboxamide or carboxylate groups of the PAM co-polymers and form inter and intramolecular complexes (SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

Monovalent cations, such as Na<sup>+</sup>, can shield the carboxylate anions of the hydrogel polymeric network contributing to a compact three-dimensional structure due to the lower repulsion between the fixed polymeric network charges. This leads to a decrease in the osmotic pressure difference between the hydrogel framework and the external solution and, consequently, a decrease in water retention capacity (MAGALHÃES et al., 2013; SADEGHI; GHASEMI; YARAHMADI, 2011).

For the temperatures evaluated, in deionized water hydrogel B presented significantly lower swelling values (212-192 g/g) as compared with hydrogel C (323-284 g/g) and hydrogel A (431-262 g/g), without any significant differences associated with temperature changes (Table 2), indicating that hydrogel B in salt-free water maintains its water absorption potential in the temperature range of 20 °C to 65 °C. When exposed to salinity, hydrogel B showed greater swelling at 20 °C (134 g/g), presenting only a 37% reduction in response to salinity (Tables 2 and 3), which represents a significantly improved tolerance to salinity for hydrogel B at 20 °C as compared with the other hydrogels tested (Table 2). However, hydrogel B showed a marked reduction in swelling (from 89 to 92%) with increasing temperature (Table 2). Hydrogel C obtained maximum swelling (324 g/g) at 40 °C in deionized water, but this swelling dropped by 90% in the saline hydration solution, for the same temperature (Table 2).

The interaction between salinity and high temperatures influenced swelling, resulting in the swelling characteristics of hydrogel B at temperatures >30 °C being statistically comparable to C and A (Table 2).

The reduction in swelling with salinity demonstrates that the tested hydrogels exhibit aspects of physical crosslinking, such as that characterized by electrostatic bonds or hydrogen bonds between polymer chains (FAJARDO *et al.*, 2013; GUILHERME *et al.*, 2015). Physical crosslinking is reversible and the PAM co-polymer matrix can be destroyed under adverse conditions such salinity, reducing the hydrogel's water absorption capacity (GUILHERME *et al.*, 2015; ZHANG; CHEN; WANG, 2006).

The higher swelling of hydrogel A at 20 and 30°C suggests this temperature range is ideal for obtaining the maximum swelling efficiency of this polymer (Table 2) which is attributed, based on the results, to low crosslinking and higher anionicity. However, in the saline solution hydrogel A showed the lowest swelling efficiency. This may be due to salts causing a reversal of crosslinking, leading to the loss of mechanical strength that is required for hydrogels to expand and retain water (THOMBARE *et al.*, 2018). Hydrogel A, despite having a good degree of swelling (>100x dry mass) in deionized water, is not recommended for regions with soil/water salinity problems.

Increasing the number of ionic groups in hydrogels is known to increase their swelling capacities. This is mainly due to the simultaneous increase of the number of counterions inside the hydrogel, which produces an additional osmotic pressure that causes swelling (FLORY, 1953). Hydrogel A was characterized by low crosslinking and high anionicity; hydrogel B exhibited a higher degree of crosslinking than A and C and lower anionicity; hydrogel C presented a lower degree of crosslinking and higher anionicity (less than hydrogel A). Regarding crosslinking, the sequence is:  $B > C \sim A$ ; the sequence for anionicity is: A > C > B.

The swelling factor was significantly higher (0.644) for hydrogel B at 20 °C as compared with < 0.2 for hydrogels A and C (Figure 3). From 30 °C onwards, the swelling factor of hydrogel B was also reduced to < 0.2, becoming not significantly different for hydrogel C but significantly higher than that found for hydrogel A (Figure 3).

This factor is defined as the ratio of hydrogel water absorption capacity in saline to salt-free water and can be a measure of the absorption sensitivity of a hydrogel upon changes in salinity. The higher the swelling factor (ranging from 0-1) the lower the sensitivity of the hydrogel to salinity (MOHAN; MURTHY; RAJU, 2005; OMIDIAN *et al.*, 1999).

Figure 3 – Dimensionless swelling factor ( $\alpha$ ) the three copolymeric acrylamide and potassium acrylate hydrogels tested as a function of temperature. Lowercase letters compare averages within the same temperature. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.



Source: elaborated by the author.

Since contrasting salinities (deionized water and 3 dS/m saline solution) were used, an experiment was carried out with the three gels, a fixed temperature of 20 °C over an increased range of salinity (0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS/m) in order to verify whether hydrogel B maintains the greatest swelling factor. The results can be verified in annex B, and confirmed the significantly greater swelling performance of hydrogel B as compared with A and C in hydration solutions with EC of 0.5 to 6.0 dS/m, at a temperature of 20 °C. In contrast, the absorption of deionized water from hydrogel B is significantly lower as compared to hydrogels A and C which are associated with less crosslinking. However, hydrogel B exhibits high potential for application in regions with problems related to salinity in irrigation water, as it maintains a certain capacity swelling under saline conditions.

The crosslinking of hydrogel B was less impaired by the presence of salts than hydrogels A and C. The swelling of hydrogels with a high degree of crosslinking is less sensitive to salinity change, since crosslinking itself prevents polymeric network expansion, just as salinity does (MOHAN; MURTHY; RAJU, 2005; OMIDIAN *et al.*, 1999). Hydrogel B presented lower sensitivity to the saline hydration solution, which is advantageous for regions with soil/water affected by salts. However, for wider applicability, there is a need to increase

this tolerance to salinity also at higher temperatures typical of soil temperatures in arid and semi-arid regions.

For greater absorption of saline hydration solution by hydrogels, it is recommended to introduce hydrophilic groups that are more prone to ionization, such as sulfonic and phosphate groups in which the degree of association with mobile ions present in saline solution would be lower than that observed in the carboxylic acid group (ZAIN *et al.*, 2018).

Across all hydrogels, temperatures and EC of hydration solution, at the end of the 30 days,  $RA_m$  levels ranged from 0.013 to 0.113 mg/g (Table 4).

Table 4 – Comparison test of means for final  $RA_m$  (mg/g) of three acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer hydrogels at four temperatures and two levels of electrical conductivity of the swelling solution.

Treatment		nt	Mean ± SE	Duncan Grouping
Gel	°C	dS/m	(mg/g)	
В	20	3	0.113±0.001	a
А	40	0.003	$0.111 \pm 0.001$	a
С	20	3	$0.097 \pm 0.002$	ab
А	20	0.003	$0.082 \pm 0.001$	abc
А	30	0.003	$0.076 \pm 0.001$	abcd
С	40	3	$0.068 \pm 0.001$	abcde
С	20	0.003	$0.046 \pm 0.001$	abcde
С	30	0.003	$0.046 \pm 0.006$	abcde
А	20	3	$0.043 \pm 0.002$	abcde
А	40	3	$0.038 \pm 0.003$	cdef
С	40	0.003	$0.034 \pm 0.002$	cdef
А	65	0.003	$0.032 \pm 0.002$	cdef
С	30	3	$0.029 \pm 0.001$	def
В	65	3	$0.028 \pm 0.003$	ef
В	40	3	$0.027 \pm 0.001$	fg
С	65	3	$0.027 \pm 0.004$	fgh
В	30	3	$0.019 \pm 0.003$	fgh
А	30	3	$0.019 \pm 0.002$	fghi
С	65	0.003	$0.019 \pm 0.001$	fghi
В	65	0.003	$0.017 \pm 0.001$	fghi
А	65	3	0.017±0.003	hij
В	20	0.003	$0.016 \pm 0.005$	ij
В	30	0.003	$0.013 \pm 0.001$	j
В	40	0.003	0.013±0.009	j

Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Duncan test. Variable with transformation  $x^{0.1}$ ; SE -standard error.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The highest final  $RA_m$  contents (0.113 and 0.111 mg/g) were found, respectively, for hydrogel B at 20 °C under saline conditions and for hydrogel A at 40 °C in deionized water

(Table 4). However, this is still a significant reduction in concentration as compared with the initial RA<sub>m</sub> content for these hydrogels. The lowest RA<sub>m</sub> content (0.013 mg/g) was observed for hydrogel B at temperatures of 30 and 40 °C in deionized water (Table 4), significantly lower that hydrogel C which was associated with a significantly lower initial RA<sub>m</sub> content as compared with hydrogels A and B (Table 1). Hydrogel B was associated with a significantly higher initial RA<sub>m</sub> content (0.272 mg/g) (Table 1) and greater RA<sub>m</sub> degradation (0.256 mg/g) in deionized water as compared with hydrogels A and C and significantly lower RA<sub>m</sub> degradation (0.159 mg/g) under saline conditions (Table 5).

Table 5 – Comparison test of means (n=4) for residual acrylamide (RA<sub>m</sub>) degradation (mg/g)  $\pm$  standard error of three acrylamide and potassium acrylate copolymer hydrogels at four temperatures and two levels of electrical conductivity of the swelling solution.

tempere	sinperatures and two revers of creetifed conductivity of the swenning solution.					
	Deionized water	Saline solution	Deionized water	Saline solution		
Gel	20°	C	30°	30°C		
Α	0.107±0.019a	0.146±0.003a	0.113±0.002b	0.170±0.004a		
В	0.256±0.029a	0.159±0.002b	0.259±0.001a	0.253±0.006a		
С	0.049±0.002a	0.002±0.004a	0.049±0.001a	0.066±0.002a		
Gel	40°	C	65°	С		
Α	0.078±0.001a	0.151±0.005a	0.157±0.004b	0.172±0.005a		
В	0.259±0.017a	0.245±0.001a	0.255±0.002a	0.244±0.005a		
С	0.061±0.003a	0.027±0.003b	0.076±0.002a	0.071±0.009a		

Values followed by the same lower case letters in the lines that compare the same hydrogel at the same temperature between deionized water and saline are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Duncan test. Source: elaborated by the author.

Initial levels of the RA<sub>m</sub> in the hydrogels tested were, respectively: A = 0.189, B = 0.272 and C = 0.095 mg/g (Table 1). These values correspond to 189, 272 and 95 mg/kg, which are well below the permissible levels (100-500 mg/kg) stipulated by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the National Resources Conservation Services (NRCS). For the hydrogels tested the RA<sub>m</sub> contents were within the range considered low (<0.05%) (XIONG *et al.*, 2018).

The RA<sub>m</sub> in hydrogel A was degraded in greater quantities at 65 °C, with 83% degradation within 30 days. For hydrogel B the greatest degradation of RA<sub>m</sub> occurred at 30 and 45 °C, with 95% degradation over the 30 days. For hydrogel C the greatest degradation was at 65 °C, with 80% of RA<sub>m</sub> degraded within 30 days. These results suggest that higher temperatures promote a higher RA<sub>m</sub> degradation rate. Under simulated environmental conditions, it was found that polyacrylamide did not degrade to acrylamide, but RAm degraded to ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) and that ammonium concentrations increased as RA<sub>m</sub> levels decreased (SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996b). Based on the chemical structure of RA<sub>m</sub>, ammonium is a

possible product of the RA<sub>m</sub> degradation process and may contribute to plant development, as ammonium is one of the ways in which plants absorb N which is an essential element of their development (MOREAU *et al.*, 2019; SMITH; PRUES; OEHME, 1996b).

Principal component analysis (PCA) results indicate that the best behaviour of the hydrogels was composed of PC1 and PC2 (Table 6).

Table 6. Matrix of superabsorbent hydrogel variable scores in the two selected main components (PC1 and PC2).

Variables	PCA 1	PCA2
Final swelling	0.42	-0.58
Swelling reduction	-0.50	0.50
Final RA <sub>m</sub> concentration	0.52	0.48
% RA <sub>m</sub> degradation	0.55	0.43
Eigenvalues	1.95	1.54
Variances (%)	48.86	38.39
Accumulated variances (%)	48.86	87.25

Source: elaborated by the author.

The variables with the highest discriminatory power in CP1 were % RA<sub>m</sub> degradation (0.55) and final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration (0.52). The values of final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration, % RA<sub>m</sub> degradation and final swelling were inverse to the reduction in swelling. The variables with the highest discriminatory power in CP2 were final swelling (-0.58) and reduction in swelling (0.50), which were also inversely associated. Thus, these variables highlighted in the main components CP1 and CP2 are considered important for the selection of hydrogels for use under conditions of high temperature and salinity indicative of semi-arid and arid regions.

The two components determined by the PCA explain 87.3% of the total variance of the original variables. The highest score values indicate those that are the most expressive variables in each component. The first component explains 48.9% of the variability of the variables and is associated with the variables indicating the RA<sub>m</sub> contents (% RA<sub>m</sub> degradation and final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration). The CP2 explains 38.4% of the total variance of the matrix of standardized variables and is associated with the variables indicating the swelling of the hydrogels (final swelling and reduction in swelling).

In the Biplot plot of PCA data were separated into different quadrants (Figure 4). Deionized water is represented by (DW) and saline water by (SW). In the 1st quadrant, statistically comparable and with higher final final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration and a higher (% RA<sub>m</sub> degradation the treatments were: 20 DW-B (20°C, DW, hydrogel B), 30 DW-B (30°C, DW,

hydrogel B), 40 DW-B (40°C, DW, hydrogel B), 65 DW-C (65°C, DW, hydrogel C), 65 SW-A (65°C, SW, hydrogel A) 65 SW-C (65°C, SW, hydrogel C) (Figure 4).

The variables final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration and % RA<sub>m</sub> degradation are strongly and positively related and were located in the 1st quadrant (Figure 4). The variables final swelling (4th quadrant) and reduction of swelling (2nd quadrant) are inversely related (Figure 4 and Table 6). For maximum swelling and for smaller swelling reductions over time, hydrogels in the 4th quadrant: A and C at temperatures of 20 to 40 °C in a low salinity solution are recommended (Figure 4).



Figure 4. PCA biplot graph with two main components.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Steeper reductions in swelling and low final swelling were observed for treatments in the 2nd quadrant: 30 SW-A (30°C, SW, hydrogel A), 30 SW-B (30°C, SW, hydrogel B), 40 SW-A (40°C, SW, hydrogel A), 30 SW-C (30°C, SW, hydrogel C), 40 SW-B (40°C, SW, hydrogel B), 40 SW-C (40°C, SW, hydrogel C), 65 SW-B (65°C, SW, hydrogel B).

The treatments in the 3rd quadrant were characterized by having low levels of final RA<sub>m</sub> concentration and % RA<sub>m</sub> degradation. The treatments grouped in the 3rd quadrant were: 20 SW-A (20°C, SW, hydrogel A), 20 SW-B (20°C, SW, hydrogel B), 20 SW-C (20°C, SW, hydrogel C), 40 DW-A (40°C, DW, hydrogel A) and 65 DW-A (65°C, DW, hydrogel A). Treatments with high final swelling rates and low swelling reduction rates were in the 4th

quadrant: 40 DW-C (40°C, DW, hydrogel C), 30 DW-A (30°C, DW, hydrogel A), 20 DW-A (20°C, DW, hydrogel A), 20 DW-C (20°C, DW, hydrogel C).

In the dendrogram (Figure 5) four clusters were formed, obeying the Euclidean distance cut-off point (0.5). In group I, hydrogels subjected to saline stress at different temperatures were identified, but hydrogel B at 20°C subjected to saline stress appeared in group III which, together with groups II and IV, concentrated the treatments subjected to deionized water.



Figure 5. Dendrogram showing the main subdivisions.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The dendrogram (Figure 5) shows that in group I the hydrogels exposed to high salinity were identified. In group II, hydrogel A was identified alone at 30 °C in deionized water. In group III, hydrogel B treatments in deionized water were identified, together with hydrogel B in saline solution at 20 °C. In group IV, hydrogels A and C were identified in deionized water. The formation of the groups in the dendrogram was primarily due to the response of the hydrogels to the salinity of the hydration solution. Emphasis is given to hydrogel B exposed to the high salinity hydration solution (3 dS/m) and at a temperature of 20 °C that was in the same group as swollen hydrogel B in deionized water, thus having a salinity response behaviour similar to that in deionized water at 20 °C, which is advantageous because of the lower sensitivity of this hydrogel to salinity at this temperature.

## CONCLUSIONS

Anionic superabsorbent PAM co-polymers 'hydrogels' have the potential to contribute to soil management under abiotic conditions indicative of arid and semiarid regions.

The absorption of deionized water from hydrogel B is lower as compared to hydrogels that exhibit less crosslinking (A and C), but its use is a good strategy for regions with problems related to salinity in irrigation water, as it maintains a certain capacity swelling in saline conditions. However, hydrogel B achieved good swelling performance under saline conditions only at 20 °C. Thus, the temperature tolerance of hydrogel B should be improved so that it can be used in regions with high temperatures and salinity levels of soil and/or water.

With regards the  $RA_m$  concentration, all of the hydrogels tested can be recommended for use in agriculture as both initial and final  $RA_m$  contents were well below permissible levels and there was no release of  $RA_m$  across the temperature range (20 to 65 °C) and swelling solution salinities tested. Further, 80 to 95% of the  $RA_m$  was degraded within 30 days indicating negligible environmental persistence.

## **6 FINAL CONSIDERATIONS**

Regarding Forth Gel®, it is recommended their use in the lowest salinity levels (~  $0.003 \text{ dS m}^{-1}$ ) of the irrigation water possible to obtain swelling >150 g g<sup>-1</sup> since small additions of salts ( $0.003-0.5 \text{ dS m}^{-1}$ ) reduce water holding capacity drastically (~40%). However, it should be noted that even in distilled water, changes in water absorption occur over time (reduction of ~43% of the swelling when compare 30 with 120 days); water with salinity levels provide changes in the swelling, reducing this drastically but the levels of acrylamide monomer are lower under these conditions.

Forth Gel® does not present any problems regarding  $RA_m$  levels since both the initial and the final concentrations were within acceptable levels (<0.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) and there was no formation of the monomer in the salinity range of the immersion solutions (water, saline solution) and in the studied times. Up to 85% of the residual monomer was degraded within 120 days.

After adding Forth Gel® to the soil, even under thermal stress, total porosity and  $\theta_{FC}$  increased, while the permanent wilting point decreased, providing improvement in soil water storage. Temperatures in arid and semi-arid environments and time lead to a progressive loss of hydrogel effectiveness. Thus, there is a potential benefit for crops with a short growth cycle. Future research should be based on improving the characteristics of hydrogels and their effects over long periods and in adverse conditions typical of arid and semiarid environments.

Regarding the hydrogels A, B and C, the absorption of deionized water from hydrogel B is lower as compared to hydrogels A and C, but its use is a good strategy for regions with problems related to salinity in irrigation water, as it maintains a certain capacity swelling in saline conditions. However, hydrogel B achieved good swelling performance under saline conditions only at 20 °C. Thus, the temperature tolerance of hydrogel B should be improved so that it can be used in regions with high temperatures and salinity levels of soil and/or water.

With regards the  $RA_m$  concentration, all of the hydrogels (A, B and C) tested can be recommended for use in agriculture as both initial and final  $RA_m$  contents were well below permissible levels and there was no release of  $RA_m$  across the temperature range (20 to 65 °C) and swelling solution salinities tested.

## REFERENCES

ABEDI KOUPAI, J.; SOHRAB, F.; SWARBRICK, G. Evaluation of Hydrogel Application on Soil Water Retention Characteristics. **Journal of Plant Nutrition**, *[sl.]*, v. 31, p. 37–41, 2008.

ABOBATTA, W. Impact of hydrogel polymer in agricultural sector. Advances in Agriculture and Environmental Science, [sl.], v. 1, n. 2, p. 59–64, 2018.

ACOSTA, J. A. *et al.* Assessment of salinity status in intensively cultivated soils under semiarid climate, Murcia, SE Spain. Journal of Arid Environments, [sl.], v. 75, n. 11, p. 1056–1066, 2011.

AGABA, H. *et al.* Hydrogel amendment to sandy soil reduces irrigation frequency and improves the biomass of *Agrostis stolonifera*. **Agricultural Sciences**, *[sl.]*, v. 02, n. 04, p. 544–550, 2011.

AHMED, E. M. Hydrogel: Preparation, characterization, and applications: A review. Journal of Advanced Research, [*sl.*], v. 6, n. 2, p. 105–121, 2015.

ALBUQUERQUE, G. H. S. **Hidrogel de acrilamida e acrilato para estratégias de recuperação de um Argissolo em processo de degradação**. 2019. 124 f. Tese de doutorado (Doutorado em Ciência do Solo) - Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, 2019.

ALMEIDA, B. G. *et al.* Densidade do solo. In: **Manual de Métodos de Análise de Solo**. 3. ed. Brasília, DF: Embrapa Solos, 2017. p. 573.

AMMAR, A. *et al.* Identification of suitable sites for rainwater harvesting structures in arid and semi-arid regions: A review. **International Soil and Water Conservation Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 4, n. 2, p. 108–120, 1 jun. 2016.

ANDRY, H. *et al.* Water retention, hydraulic conductivity of hydrophilic polymers in sandy soil as affected by temperature and water quality. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 373, n. 1–2, p. 177–183, 2009.

ARAÚJO FILHO, J. A. Manejo Pastoril Sustentável da Caatinga. Recife: Projeto Dom Elder Câmara, 2013.

AYERS, R. S.; WESTCOT, D. W. **Water quality for agriculture**. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1985.

BAASIRI, M. *et al.* Soil application of a hydrophilic conditioner in relation to moisture, irrigation frequency and crop growth. **Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis**, *[sl.]*, v. 17, n. 6, p. 573–589, 1986.

BAI, W. *et al*. Effects of super-absorbent polymers on the physical and chemical properties of soil following different wetting and drying cycles. **Soil Use and Management**, *[sl.]*, v. 26, p. 253–260, 2010.

BAJPAI, S. K.; SINGH, S. Analysis of swelling behavior of poly (methacrylamide-comethacrylic acid) hydrogels and effect of synthesis conditions on water uptake. **Reactive and Functional Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 66, p. 431–440, 2006.

BAKASS, M.; MOKHLISSE, A.; LALLEMANT, M. Absorption and desorption of liquid water by a superabsorbent polymer: effect of polymer in the drying of the soil and the quality

of certain plants. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, [sl.], v. 83, p. 234-243, 2002.

BARVENIK, F. W. Polyacrilamide characteristics related to soil applications. Soil Science, *[sl.]*, v. 158, n. 4, p. 235–243, 1994.

BEZERRA, M. N. **Hidrogéis superabsorventes compósitos de poli(acrilamida-co-acrilato de** potássio) e carbonatos para aplicação agrícola. 2015. 135 f. Tese de doutorado (Doutorado em Química) - Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, 2015.

BOLOGNA, L. S.; ANDRAWES, F. F.; BARVENIK, F. W. Analysis of residual acrylamide in field crops. Journal of Chromatographic Science, [*sl.*], v. 37, p. 240–244, 1999.

BOX, G. E.; COX, D. R. An analysis of transformations. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological), *[sl.]*, v. 26, p. 211–243, 1964.

BROWN, L. *et al.* Model studies of the degradation of acrylamide monomer. **Water Research**, Amsterdam, v. 14, n. 7, p. 775–778, 1980.

CASTLE, L. Determination of acrylamide monomer in mushrooms grown on polyacrylamide gel. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, [*sl.*], v. 41, n. 8, p. 1261–1263, 1993.

CHEN, Y. LE *et al.* Co-variation of fine-root distribution with vegetation and soil properties along a revegetation chronosequence in a desert area in northwestern China. **Catena**, Cremlingen, v. 151, p. 16–25, 2017.

COELLO, J. *et al.* Innovative soil conditioners and mulches for forest restoration in semiarid conditions in northeast Spain. **Ecological Engineering**, *[sl.]*, v. 118, p. 52–65, 2018.

CORREIA, R. C. *et al.* A região semiárida brasileira. In: VOLTOLINI, T. **Produção de Caprinos e Ovinos no Semiárido**. Petrolina: Embrapa Semiárido, 2011. p. 21–28. Available in: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/54762/1/01-A-regiao-semiaridabrasileira.pdf-18-12-2011.pdf. Acess in: 23 jun. 2019.

DAR, S. B. *et al.* Hydrogel: to enhance crop productivity per unit available water under moisture stress agriculture. **Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology and Life Sciences**, *[sl.]*, v. 6, n. 10, p. 129–135, 2017.

DORKOOSH, F. A. *et al.* Preparation and NMR characterization of superporous hydrogels (SPH) and SPH composites. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 41, n. 23, p. 8213–8220, 2000.

ENTRY, J. A.; SOJKA, R. E.; HICKS, B. J. Carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios can estimate anionic polyacrylamide degradation in soil. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 145, n. 1–2, p. 8–16, 2008.

FAJARDO, L. *et al.* Restoration of a degraded tropical dry forest in Macanao, Venezuela. **Journal of Arid Environments**, *[sl.]*, v. 88, p. 236–243, 2013.

FENG, S.; FU, Q. Expansion of global drylands under a warming climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, [*sl.*], v. 13, n. 19, p. 10081–10094, 2013.

FLORY, P. J. Principles of polymer chemistry. Cornell University Press, 1953.

FLORY, P. J.; REHNER, J. Statistical mechanics of cross-linked polymer networks. **The Journal of Chemical Physics**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 11, p. 512–520, 1943.

FONTENO, W. C.; BILDERBACK, T. E. Impact of Hydrogel on Physical Properties of Coarse-structured Horticultural Substrates. Journal of the American Society for

Horticultural Science, [sl.], v. 118, n. 2, p. 217-222, 1993.

FREITAS, J. S. *et al.* Fotodegradação de hidrogel de poliacrilamida na presença de substâncias químicas para o uso na agricultura. **Revista Matéria**, Rio de Janeiro, v. 24, n. 3, 2019.

FRENKEL, H. Reassessment of water quality criteria for irrigation. In: Ecological studies: analysis and synthesis, 1984.

GAO, Z. *et al.* Determination of soil temperature in an arid region. Journal of Arid Environments, [*sl.*], v. 71, p. 157–168, 2007.

GHEYI, H.; QUEIROZ, J.; MEDEIROS, J. DE. Manejo e controle da salinidade na agricultura irrigada. Campina Grande: UFPB, 1997.

GŁOWIŃSKA, A.; TROCHIMCZUK, A. W.; JAKUBIAK-MARCINKOWSKA, A. Novel acrylate/organophosphorus-based hydrogels for agricultural applications. New outlook and innovative concept for the use of 2- (methacryloyloxy) ethyl phosphate as a multi-purpose monomer. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 110, p. 202–210, 2019.

GRABLE, A. R.; SIEMER, E. G. Effects of bulk density, aggregate size, and soil water suction on oxygen diffusion, redox potentials, and elongation of corn roots. **Soil Science of America Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 32, p. 180–186, 1968.

GUILHERME, M. R. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogels based on polysaccharides for application in agriculture as soil conditioner and nutrient carrier: A review. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 72, p. 365–385, 2015.

HEIDARI, S. *et al.* Synthesis of an efficient copolymer of acrylamide and acrylic acid and determination of its swelling behavior. Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology, [*sl.*], v. 8, n. 4, p. 1331–1340, 2018.

HENNINK, W. E.; NOSTRUM, C. F. VAN. Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, [sl.], v. 64, p. 223–236, 2012.

HOLLIMAN, P. J. *et al.* Model and field studies of the degradation of cross-linked polyacrylamide gels used during the revegetation of slate waste. Science of the Total Environment, *[sl.]*, v. 336, n. 1–3, p. 13–24, 2005.

HOOVER, D. L. *et al.* Traversing the wasteland: a framework for assessing ecological threats to drylands. **BioScience**, Washington, v. 70, n. 1, p. 35–47, 2020.

HOU, X. *et al.* Superabsorbent polymers influence soil physical properties and increase potato tuber yield in a dry-farming region. **Journal of Soils and Sediments**, *[sl.]*, v. 18, p. 816–826, 2018.

KIPCAK, A. S. *et al.* Modeling and investigation of the swelling kinetics of acrylamidesodium acrylate hydrogel. **Journal of Chemistry**, Los Angeles, n. 2014, 2014.

KLUTE, A. Water retention: laboratory methods. In: **Methods of soil analysis**. 2. ed. Madison: Soil Science Society of America, 1986. p. 635–662.

KOUPAI, J. A.; ESLAMIAN, S. S.; KAZEMI, J. A. Enhancing the available water content in unsaturated soil zone using hydrogel, to improve plant growth indices. **Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology**, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 1, p. 67–75, 2008.

KUSNIN, N.; SYED, M. A.; AHMAD, S. A. Toxicity, pollution and biodegradation of

acrylamide – a mini review. Journal of biochemistry, microbiology and biotechnology, [sl.], v. 3, n. 2, p. 6–12, 2015.

KWON, I. C.; BAE, Y. H.; SUNG WAN KIM. Electrically Erodible polymer gel for controlled release of drugs. **Nature**, Basingstoke, v. 354, p. 291–293, 1991.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel composite with minerals aimed at water sustainability. **Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society**, São Paulo, v. 24, n. 2, p. 304–313, 2013.

MARIN, A. M. P. *et al.* Efeito da Gliricidia sepium sobre nutrientes do solo, microclima e produtividade do milho em sistema agroflorestal no agreste Paraibano. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 30, n. 3, p. 555–564, 2006.

MIRDARIKVANDE, S. *et al.* Effect of pH, and Salinity onto Swelling Properties of Hydrogels Based on H-alginate-g-poly (AMPS). **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 205–209, 2014.

MOHAN, Y. M.; MURTHY, P. S. K.; RAJU, K. M. Synthesis, characterization and effect of reaction parameters on swelling properties of acrylamide – sodium methacrylate superabsorbent copolymers. **Reactive and Functional Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 63, p. 11–26, 2005.

MOLLOY, P. J.; SMITH, M. J.; COWLING, M. J. The effects of salinity and temperature on the behaviour of polyacrylamide gels. **Materials and Design**, *[sl.]*, v. 21, n. 3, p. 169–174, 2000.

MOREAU, D. *et al.* A plant perspective on nitrogen cycling in the rhizosphere. Functional Ecology, [*sl.*], v. 33, p. 540–552, 2019.

LANDE, S. S.; BOSCH, S. J.; HOWARD, P. H. Degradation and leaching of acrylamide in soil. Journal of Environmental Quality, [*sl.*], v. 8, p. 133–137, 1979.

LIM, D.W. *et al.* Synthesis and absorbency of a superabsorbent from sodium starch sulfate-g-polyacrylonitrile. **Journal of Applied Polymer Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 79, p. 1423–1430, 2001.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Application of FTIR in the determination of acrylate content in poly(sodium acrylateco-acrylamide) superabsorbent hydrogels. **Química Nova**, São Paulo, v. 35, n. 7, p. 1464–1467, 2012.

MAGALHÃES, A. S. G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel composite with minerals aimed at water sustainability. **Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society**, São Paulo, v. 24, n. 2, p. 304–313, 2013.

MANDAL, U. *et al.* Evaluating hydrogel application on soil water availability and crop productivity in semiarid tropical red soil. **Indian Journal of Dryland Agricultural Research and Development**, *[sl.]*, v. 30, n. 2, p. 1–10, 2015.

MARANDI, G. B.; REZA, G. Effect of hydrophobic monomer on the synthesis and swelling behaviour of a collagen- graft -poly [(acrylic acid)-co-(sodium acrylate)] hydrogel. **Polymer international**, *[sl.]*, v. 58, p. 227–235, 2008.

MATOSO, V. *et al.* Acrylamide : A review about its toxic effects in the light of Developmental Origin of Health and Disease (DOHaD) concept. **Food Chemistry**, *[sl.]*, v. 283, p. 422–430, 2019.

MILANI, P. *et al.* Polymers and its applications in agriculture. **Polímeros**, São Carlos, v. 27, n. 3, p. 256–266, 2017.

MIRDARIKVANDE, S. *et al.* Effect of pH, and Salinity onto Swelling Properties of Hydrogels Based on H-alginate-g-poly (AMPS). **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 205–209, 2014.

MOHAMMADINEZHAD, S.; AHMADVAND, M. Modeling the internal processes of farmers' water conflicts in arid and semi-arid regions: Extending the theory of planned behavior. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 580, p. 124241, 2020.

MOLLOY, P. J.; SMITH, M. J.; COWLING, M. J. The effects of salinity and temperature on the behaviour of polyacrylamide gels. **Materials and Design**, *[sl.]*, v. 21, n. 3, p. 169–174, 2000.

MONTESANO, F. F. *et al.* Biodegradable superabsorbent hydrogel increases water retention properties of growing media and plant growth. Agriculture and Agricultural Science **Procedia**, Amsterdam, v. 4, p. 451–458, 2015.

MOREAU, D. *et al*. A plant perspective on nitrogen cycling in the rhizosphere. **Functional Ecology**, *[sl.]*, v. 33, p. 540–552, 2019.

NARJARY, B. *et al.* Water availability in different soils in relation to hydrogel application. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 187–188, p. 94–101, 2012.

NEELY, W. B.; BRANSON, D. R.; BLAU, G. E. Partition coefficient to measure bioconcentration potential of organic chemicals in fish. **Environmental Science and Technology**, New York, v. 8, n. 13, p. 1113–1115, 1974.

OMIDIAN, H. *et al.* Modified acrylic-based superabsorbent polymers (dependence on particle size and salinity). **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 40, p. 1753–1761, 1999.

PALUSZEK, J. Physical quality of eroded soil amended with gel-forming polymer. **International agrophysics**, *[sl.]*, v. 25, p. 375–382, 2011.

PARADELO, R.; BASANTA, R.; BARRAL, M. T. Water-holding capacity and plant growth in compost-based substrates modified with polyacrylamide, guar gum or bentonite. **Scientia Horticulturae**, *[sl.]*, v. 243, p. 344–349, 2019.

PIÑERO, M. C. *et al.* Changes in the salinity tolerance of sweet pepper plants as affected by nitrogen form and high CO2 concentration. **Journal of Plant Physiology**, *[sl.]*, v. 200, p. 18–27, 2016.

RAJU, K. M.; RAJU, M. P.; MOHAN, Y. M. Synthesis of superabsorbent copolymers as water manageable materials. **Polymer international**, *[sl.]*, v. 772, p. 768–772, 2003.

RAY, S. S.; OKAMOTO, M. Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: A review from preparation to processing. **Progress in Polymer Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 28, n. 11, p. 1539–1641, 2003.

REYES, R. *et al.* Effect of substrate depth and roof layers on green roof temperature and water requirements in a semi-arid climate. **Ecological Engineering**, *[sl.]*, v. 97, p. 624–632, 2016.

RHOADES, J. D. *et al.* Soil electrical conductivity and soil salinity: new formulations and calibrations. **Soil Science Society of America Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 53, n. 2, p. 433–439, 1989.

REYNOLDS, J. F. *et al.* Ecology: Global desertification: Building a science for dryland development. **Science**, New York, v. 316, n. 5826, p. 847–851, 2007.

SADEGHI, M.; GHASEMI, N.; YARAHMADI, M. Drug release rtudy from superabsorbent hydrogel based on poly 2-acrylamido-2-methylpropanesulfonic acid grafted collagen. **Bioscienes Biotechnology Research Asia**, *[sl.]*, v. 8, n. 2, p. 425–434, 2011.

SANTOS, J. C. N. *et al.* Effect of dry spells and soil cracking on runoff generation in a semiarid micro watershed under land use change. **Journal of Hydrology**, Amsterdam, v. 541, p. 1057–1066, 2016.

SAS 9.3 Software. SAS Institute Inc Cary, NC, , 2011.

SATHESH PRABU, C.; THATHEYUS, A. J. Biodegradation of acrylamide employing free and immobilized cells of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. **International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation**, *[sl.]*, v. 60, p. 69–73, 2007.

SAVI, T. *et al*. Green roofs for a drier world: Effects of hydrogel amendment on substrate and plant water status. **Science of the Total Environment**, *[sl.]*, v. 490, p. 467–476, 2014.

SCHARENBROCH, B. C.; BOCKHEIM, J. G. Impacts of forest gaps on soil properties and processes in old growth northern hardwood-hemlock forests. **Plant and Soil**, Dordrecht, v. 294, n. 1–2, p. 219–233, 2007.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental degradation of polyacrylamides. I. Effects of artificial environmental conditions: Temperature, light, and pH. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 35, p. 121–135, 1996.

SMITH, E. A.; PRUES, S. L.; OEHME, F. W. Environmental Degradation of Polyacrylamides II. Effects of Environmental (Outdoor) Exposure. **Ecotoxicology and environmental safety**, *[sl.]*, v. 37, p. 76–91, 1997.

SONG, B. *et al.* Hydrogel synthesis based on lignin/sodium alginate and application in agriculture. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 144, p. 219–230, 2020.

SOUTO, P. C. *et al.* Decomposição de estercos dispostos em diferentes profundidades em area degradada no semi-árido da paraíba. **Revista Brasileira de Ciencia do Solo**, Viçosa, v. 29, n. 1, p. 125–130, 2005.

TEIXEIRA, P. C. *et al.* Manual de métodos de análise de solo. 3. ed. rev ed. Brasília, DF: Embrapa Solos, 2017.

TEPE, Y.; ÇEBI, A. Acrylamide in environmental Water: a review on sources, exposure, and public health risks. **Exposure and Health**, *[sl.]*, v. 11, n. 1, p. 3–12, 2017.

THOMBARE, N. *et al.* Design and development of guar gum based novel, superabsorbent and moisture retaining hydrogels for agricultural applications. **Carbohydrate Polymers**, *[sl.]*, v. 185, p. 169–178, 2018.

ULLAH, F. *et al.* Classification , processing and application of hydrogels: A review. **Materials Science and Engineering C**, *[sl.]*, v. 57, p. 414–433, 2015.

VARENNES, A. *et al.* Effects of two Na polyacrylate polymers on the hydrophysical and chemical properties of a sandy soil, and on plant growth and water economy. **Revista de Ciências Agrárias**, Lisbon, v. 20, n. 4, 1997.

WANG, S. *et al.* A remarkable thermosensitive hydrogel cross-linked by two inorganic nanoparticles with opposite charges. **Journal of Colloid and Interface Science**, *[sl.]*, v. 538, p. 530–540, 2019.

WOLTER, M. *et al.* Biological degradability of syntetic superabsorbent soil conditioners. Landbauforschung Volkenrode, [sl.], v. 52, n. 1, p. 43–52, 2002.

WU, J. *et al.* Influence of the COOH and COONa groups and crosslink density of poly(acrylic acid)/montmorillonite superabsorbent composite on water absorbency. **Polymer International**, *[sl.]*, v. 50, p. 1050–1053, 2001.

WU, Y. *et al.* Response of soil water, temperature, and maize (Zea may L.) production to different plastic film mulching patterns in semi-arid areas of northwest China. **Soil and Tillage Research**, *[sl.]*, v. 166, p. 113–121, 2017.

XIAO, B. *et al.* Moss-dominated biological soil crusts significantly influence soil moisture and temperature regimes in semiarid ecosystems. **Geoderma**, Amsterdam, v. 263, p. 35–46, 2016.

XIONG, B. *et al.* Polyacrylamide degradation and its implications in environmental systems. **npj Clean Water**, London, v. 1, n. 17, p. 1–9, 2018.

YANG, W. *et al.* Foliar antitranspirant and soil superabsorbent hydrogel affect photosynthetic gas exchange and water use efficiency of maize grown under low rainfall conditions. **Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture**, *[sl.]*, v. 99, p. 350–359, 2018.

YEOMANS, J. C.; BREMNER, J. M. A rapid and precise method for routine determination of organic carbon in soil. **Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis**, *[sl.]*, v. 19, p. 1467–1476, 1988.

ZAIN, G. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogel based on sulfonated-starch for improving water and saline absorbency. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, *[sl.]*, v. 115, p. 61–68, 2018.

ZHANG, J.; CHEN, H.; WANG, A. Study on superabsorbent composite. IV. Effects of organification degree of attapulgite on swelling behaviors of polyacrylamide/organoattapulgite composites. **European Polymer Journal**, *[sl.]*, v. 42, p. 101–108, 2006.

ZHAO, C. *et al.* Salt-tolerant superabsorbent polymer with high capacity of water-nutrient retention derived from sulfamic acid-modified starch. **ACS Omega**, *[sl.]*, v. 4, p. 5923–5930, 2019.

ZHAO, Y. *et al.* Superabsorbent hydrogels from poly (aspartic acid) with salt- , temperatureand pH-responsiveness properties. **Polymer**, Guildford, v. 46, p. 5368–5376, 2005.

## ANNEX A - ANOVA SUMMARY

SV	W(final)	Residual acrylamide	Acrylamide degradation	C/N	
Salinity	1437,715**	27,874**	27,874**	7,004**	
Time	131,437**	47,81**	47,81**	77,786**	
Salinity*time	18,689**	4,342**	4,342**	4,209**	
CV 1 (%)	6,78	28,64	16,74	2,67	
CV 2 (%)	9,55	30,11	17,6	3,13	

Table 1. Summary of Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for final swelling ( $W_{final}$ ), residual acrylamide, acrylamide degradation and C/N.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Table 2. Summary of Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for field capacity, wilting point, available water, bulk density and porosity

SV	Field capacity	Wilting point	Available water	Bulk density	Porosity
Temperature	12.652**	1.063 <sup>ns</sup>	15.133**	25.734**	25.737**
Time	47.494**	30.759**	86.022**	15.029**	15.029**
Temperature *Time	8.970**	33.097**	4.301**	5.664**	5.664**
CV 1 (%)	5.00	4.88	6.96	2.17	2.23
CV 2 (%)	4.18	6.47	7.25	1.64	1.69

Source: elaborated by the author.



Graph 1 – Final swelling (g H<sub>2</sub>O/g dry gel) of three hydrogels of potassium acrylate-co-acrylamide as a function of salinity levels (0.003, 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 dS/m = 0.03, 5, 15, 30 and 60 mmol/L) of swelling water.

Graph 2 - Dimensionless swelling factor of three hydrogels tested as a function of electric conductivity (EC) (dS/m).

